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Notably, there were a number of areas in
which the results we achieved exceeded the
expectations laid out in the Statement of Intent.
In these situations we have identified the key
factors that delivered success and made sure
that we are able to access them in the future.

Foreword from the Authority

Grounding of the Rena
On 5 October 2011, during the final stages of
preparing this report, the Rena grounded on
Astrolabe Reef near Tauranga. The speed of
response by Maritime New Zealand personnel
at the scene, in Wellington and elsewhere
around New Zealand is evidence that Maritime
New Zealand is moving in the ‘right direction
with the right people and skills’. It is also
evidence of the closeness of the relationships
we have in New Zealand and overseas with
the many government and non-government
organisations that have worked alongside us,
and of the quality of the people in those
organisations.

The operating environment
Maritime New Zealand has a relatively small
number of dedicated staff to cover its extensive
regulatory and operational service delivery
responsibilities, which are so vital to the
functioning of New Zealand’s eclectic maritime
system. These factors alone mean that
Maritime New Zealand conducts its ‘business
as usual’ in a complex and challenging
operating environment.

Closing comment
As we look back, the Authority’s view is that,
by and large, Maritime New Zealand has had a
good year. We thank all of those who work in
Maritime New Zealand, as well as those who
support us, in particular in the Ministry of
Transport, for their contribution to this result.

On top of this, Maritime New Zealand is
focused on ensuring it can establish the
necessary organisational capability and
capacity over the longer term. This will ensure
the organisation delivers value for money and
works with all stakeholders to evolve from the
regulatory framework we have today to one
that is more aligned to contemporary
expectations.

Ultimately, however, important judgements
about how we have performed over the past
year are made by our stakeholders – the
Minister of Transport, a range of agencies in
central and local government, the mariners
who work on the sea and in New Zealand’s
waterways, and the many New Zealanders and
visitors to the country who travel on and play in
that same space.

Progress against the plan
A combination of ‘business as usual’ and
‘project’ work, each with its own characteristics
– along with the need to be successful in both
areas – creates pressure right across the
organisation. Nevertheless, good progress was
generally made against most of the objectives
in the programme of work set out in the 20102013 Statement of Intent.

We trust that this Annual Report will provide
them with information that will enable them to
form a more complete view.

In a very small number of areas, however, we
met neither deadlines nor the standards of
performance the Statement of Intent
established. We have addressed this gap by
adjusting timelines and/or standards where we
are able to. Where we do not have discretion
to do this, we have made the changes needed
to move us in the right direction.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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Work has also progressed well on developing
a comprehensive strategy for Maritime New
Zealand to deliver appropriate distress and
safety communications services in the period
2014 to 2025. The strategy will see Maritime
New Zealand continue to meet international
obligations around marine safety distress
communication as well as national
expectations.

Director’s review

The Marine Pollution Response Service was
asked to assist the clean-up following the
Deepwater Horizon oil spill – the only
government agency outside the United States
to be asked. Selected for their professionalism,
competency and training, the small team sent
to the United States provided valuable support
while at the same time learning lessons that
could be applied to oil spills in New Zealand.

Maritime New Zealand has delivered on a
significant work programme over the last 12
months. Many forward-looking projects are
reviewing how Maritime New Zealand can
serve the industry better by reforming the
regulatory framework – simplifying the rules,
focusing on operators taking responsibility for
their own safety, and providing support and
guidance to assist them to keep themselves
safe. While we still have some way to go to
become a modern regulator, the foundations
have been laid for a better system for all.

Overall it can be said that this year has been
one of change, challenge and commitment for
Maritime New Zealand staff. They have shown
remarkable resilience and fortitude in
managing a significant number of major
projects together with ‘business as usual’
activities that are critical to the day-to-day
functioning of the maritime system – and have
achieved this in an efficient and effective
manner. It has indeed been an honour and
privilege to have worked alongside a team of
proactive and passionate people who are
committed to continually improving safety,
security and environmental protection in the
maritime sector.

We have also become more focused on the
core components of safety regulation –
ensuring that people who come into the system
meet standards, increasing our oversight to
ensure that they continue to meet standards,
and taking appropriate action when they do
not. A level playing field with all players being
treated fairly and consistently and to the same
standard is the good we strive for. At the same
time we now recognise that maritime safety will
only be enhanced when we have a maritime
community that embraces a safety culture.
This new outcome really underpins what we
want for the New Zealand maritime industry.

As this is my last report, I offer my very sincere
thanks to all the Maritime New Zealand staff
and Authority members I have worked with
over the last five years as Director of Maritime
New Zealand. It has been a privilege to lead
and be part of an organisation that has made a
genuine difference to the lives of many New
Zealanders. I wish them all the best and
believe that Maritime New Zealand is in a
strong position to meet the constant challenges
that arise in an ever-changing maritime
environment.

The Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
continues to focus on providing world-class
coordination of search and rescue in the New
Zealand search and rescue region. There are
now over 30,000 beacons registered with
Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand –
up almost 5,000 from last year. Registration of
distress beacons continues to pay dividends,
with the vast majority of false or inadvertent
activations being solved by a simple phone call
to the registered contact recorded in the
beacons database – saving both time and,
more importantly, lives.

Catherine Taylor
Director, Maritime New Zealand
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Overview of Maritime New Zealand
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Maritime New Zealand’s primary functions and
duties outlined in the Maritime Transport Act
1994 are summarised in the key objective in
Section 430 of the Act:

Overview of government
transport sector
Maritime New Zealand is one of the Crown
entities in the government transport sector.
The diagram below illustrates Maritime New
Zealand’s position within the transport sector.

To undertake its safety, security, marine
protection and other functions in a way
that contributes to the aim of achieving an
integrated, safe, responsive and
sustainable transport system.

Maritime New Zealand was established as a
Crown entity under the Crown Entities Act
2004. Governance is exercised by a fivemember board (the Authority) appointed by the
Minister of Transport.

Details of Maritime New Zealand’s statutory
functions, including the independent statutory
functions of the Director are contained in
Appendix 3.

THE NEW ZEALAND GOVERNMENT TRANSPORT SECTOR

MINISTER OF TRANSPORT

MINISTRY OF
TRANSPORT

ASSOCIATE MINISTER
OF TRANSPORT

Board

Board

Board

Board

NEW ZEALAND
TRANSPORTATION
AGENCY

MARITIME NEW
ZEALAND

CIVIL AVIATION
AUTHORITY

TRANSPORT ACCIDENT
INVESTIGATION
COMMISSION
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distress alerts within this region, covering sea,
air and land operations needing to be
managed at a national level, and any
operations initiated by emergency distress
beacons.

The important work of
Maritime New Zealand
Maritime New Zealand’s work is vital to
ensuring New Zealand’s commercial and
recreational vessels operate safely and its
maritime transport system is effective and
efficient. Although a small organisation, its
responsibilities extend over a vast
geographical area, and across a large and
diverse range of maritime activities.

3. Marine pollution response
Almost 10 million tonnes of oil is transported
around New Zealand’s pristine coastline by oil
tankers every year. Maritime New Zealand
operates the Marine Pollution Response
Service, whose oil spill response experts are
able to respond to significant oil spills in New
Zealand, and overseas if required. These
specialists maintain the National Oil Spill
Response Plan and manage the national
stockpile of oil spill response equipment. They
also conduct oil spill exercises and training for
regional responders.

The five key roles that define the services
Maritime New Zealand provides to the
maritime sector are outlined below. Associated
functions and activities are described in the
diagram on page 9.

1. Maritime safety and marine
environment protection

4. Maritime security

Maritime New Zealand is responsible for
making sure the thousands of commercial
vessels in New Zealand waters are operated in
a safe and secure manner, and meet maritime
standards.

Maritime New Zealand monitors the security
provided by port operators and undertakes the
security profiling of vessels as required by the
Maritime Security Act, which gives effect to the
International Ship and Port Facility Security
Code. It also gathers, assesses and
exchanges, as appropriate, information about
security threats to New Zealand’s maritime
interests.

The vast majority of New Zealand’s imports
and exports are transported by sea. Maritime
New Zealand works to ensure that the
hundreds of foreign vessels visiting this
country each year comply with the safety and
environmental protection conventions set by
the International Maritime Organization, to
which New Zealand is party.

5. The Crown’s international
obligations
Maritime New Zealand administers the
Crown’s obligations under international
maritime and marine environment protection
agreements and treaties, as agreed with the
Minister, by representing New Zealand’s
interests at the International Maritime
Organization. As an island nation, New
Zealand needs to ensure the safety and
marine environment protection standards
applied to foreign-flagged vessels are sensitive
to national factors.

Through its investigations of maritime incidents
and accidents, Maritime New Zealand checks
that regulatory requirements are being met
and, where there is a serious breach of the
law, takes enforcement action. These
investigations also allow the lessons learned to
be used in safety campaigns and to help
prioritise resources and identify areas requiring
safety improvements. Among its other safety
responsibilities, Maritime New Zealand
promotes safe recreational boating.

2. Search and rescue coordination
New Zealand’s search and rescue region is
one of the largest in the world, covering more
than 30 million square kilometres and
extending from the Pacific Islands to Antarctica
and halfway to Chile and Australia. The
Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
provides a 24-hour response for all notified
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of

1m passengers

4 ferries
1 UK-flagged
ferry
7,000 annual
crossings

3

17

1,107 vessels

Fishing

10

1

5 million
passengers

1,458 vessels

Passenger

3

747 vessels

Non-passenger

3

80,000
participants

263 rafts

52 operators

White-water
rafting

1

310,000
participants

117 jet boats

47 operators

Commercial jet
boating

100,000
participants

150+ operators

Kayaking

Outdoor & adventure activities

15,700
participants

7 operators

River boarding

20,500 active
seafarers

138 optometrists
36 examiners

12 training
institutions
48 medical
practitioners

Seafarers

Seafarers

1 maritime rule

1 maritime rule

Guidance material

32 reported accidents, incidents & mishaps

Regulate vessels travelling
internationally & provide guidance to
passenger vessels

Collect & assess intelligence to
determine maritime security levels
(1,800 ships risk profiled)

Maritime security

Maintain & operate RCCNZ

Provide oil spill response & preparedness

Provide appropriate distress & safety radio
communications systems

807 safety inspections

Note: based on 2010/11 figures.

Training
institutions &
examiners

VHF, HF &
SatCom

Yachts that travel
overseas

118 reported
accidents,
incidents &
mishaps

At MFAT's
request, as
required
Comply with
national oil spill
contingency plan
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As requested

Manage security Capacity building,
plan
at RMP's request

At MFAT's
request, as
required

At TAIC's
request, as
required

Provided to MFAT
as per MOU

All installations
audited

Occasional
accidents,
incidents &
mishaps

Marine protection
documents

4 marine
protection rules

10 IMO
conventions

2 drilling rigs

24/7 response

2 exercises and
13 inspections

4 port & harbour
safety code audits

4 marine
protection rule

18 Harbour
Safety Mgmt
systems

4 gas
platforms

12,000 piloted
movements

2 FPSOs
1 well head

Pacific islands

OTHER

Offshore oil & gas
industry

33 pilotage areas

14 ports

Port & harbour

24/7 coordination of land, sea & air SAR services covering 30 million sq km, plus all distress beacon alerts, including some Pacific countries within New Zealand's SAR region; 431 distress beacon alerts; 737 category II SAR incidents

24/7 response to oil spills, plus 521 trained oil response personnel to respond to oil spills and 42 onscene commanders

30 VHF and 1 HF radio network sites covering 98% of coastal waters & inland waterways to 30–50 miles offshore, monitored 24/7, HF & SatCom for NAV Area XIV covering 30 million sq km

23 lighthouse & 118 lighthouse beacons & buoys maintained outside harbour limits; aids to navigation approved

13 flag state inspections

554 port state control inspections

Provide aids to navigation

7 prosecutions under Maritime Transport Act and Health and Safety in Employment Act

500 maritime document holders audited, covering 34 different maritime activities

Monitor adherence to regulatory requirements
through inspections

Monitor adherence to regulatory requirements
through audit

175 reported accidents,
incidents & mishaps

Occasional
investigations
relating to
seafarers

44 reported accidents,
incidents & mishaps

All craft that travel
overseas

Qualifications &
Operational Limits 2 maritime rules
review

Investigate maritime transport accidents &
incidents, plus maritime security breaches &
incidents & complaints

430 vessel registration transactions

103 health and safety education/liaison visits to Safe Ship Management operators. 84 statutory notifications received regarding serious harm

221 exemptions processed

1,772 certificates issued for Safe Ship Management & Safe Operating Plan vessels, 64 surveyor recognitions

36 maritime rules & 22 marine protection rules, including policy development

A wide variety of interactions including industry liaison meetings. 78 visits to Safe Operating Plan operators, liaison visits, attendance at 7 regional boat shows. Attend national & regional forums & seminars

Issued 1,493
CoCs, 16 pilot
licences, 35 pilot
exemptions

Enforcement action

International rules
apply

Unknown

20

500,000 boats

All activities

Recreational
boating

Quarterly publications: Safe Seas Clean Seas, Lookout! & The Good Oil. Issue marine guidance notices and guidelines. Distribute 26,000 recreational safe boating packs

STCW convention

As required, through briefing papers, regular meetings, quarterly reports, annual report (including marine environment protection) and Statement of Intent

1 research vessel

1 dredger

8 coastal traders

1 coastal bunker
barge

3 tankers

Coastal traders,
tankers and
research vessels

Domestic operators

COMMERCIAL

IMO participation: New Zealand is a signatory to 24 IMO & ILO conventions, plus 10 IMO conventions
relating to marine environment protection

59 reported accidents,
incidents & mishaps

2

18

519 port visits

6,128 port visits

137,000
passengers

101 voyages

2,329 voyages

10.8m tonnes of
oil

35 ships

707 ships
63 oil tankers

Interisland
passenger /
freight ferries

NZ SOLAS operators

License ships, their operation & their crew

Maintain the New Zealand Register of
Ships

Administer the HSEA for work on board ships &
ships as places of work

Issue exemptions

Exercise entry control through the granting of
maritime documents & marine protection
documents

Develop & maintain maritime safety &
marine protection rules

Provide information & advice & foster information &
education programmes

Promote maritime safety, security &
marine environment protection & compliance

Administer the international obligations
the Crown

Advise Minister on technical maritime safety policy

Serious harm injuries: 2010/11

Fatalities: 2010/11

MNZ FUNCTIONS &
ACTIVITIES

Cruise

Cargo

International operators

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND SECTORS, FUNCTIONS AND ACTIVITIES

24/7 response

VHF, HF &
SatCom

Navigational aids

Occasional
accidents,
incidents &
mishaps

International rules
apply

Royal New
Zealand Navy
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Our people –
the key enabler
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Foundations of Maritime
New Zealand

Our people
As at 30 June 2011, Maritime New Zealand
had an establishment of 149.6 full time
equivalent staff based in its Wellington office
and 10 regional offices, Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand in Lower Hutt and
Maritime Pollution Response Service in
Auckland.

Our vision
A vibrant, viable maritime community that
works and plays safely and securely on clean
waters.

Our mission

Work has continued to address the priority
areas identified during the Best Workplaces
Survey carried out in 2010. The initial focus
has been in reviewing and embedding
Maritime New Zealand’s vision, mission and
values. Given the appointment of a new Chief
Executive/Director, who is due to commence in
December 2011, the next Best Workplaces
Survey will be conducted in November 2011.

Working together to provide inspirational
leadership, guidance and support to the
maritime community to achieve our vision.

Our values
Our success depends on the commitment,
performance and attitudes of all those who
work for Maritime New Zealand. To achieve
this, we demonstrate the following values:

The workplace profile of Maritime New Zealand
is detailed in the table below:

Integrity
x

We are honest, ethical and trustworthy.

x

We treat one another and others fairly and
consistently.

Workplace profile of Maritime New Zealand
Workplace profile
(As at 30 June)
Staff numbers
Establishment FTEs 1
Vacancies FTEs
Actual FTEs
Gender
Male
Female
Age
Average age of staff

Commitment
x

We are committed to the pursuit of
excellence and working to improve
outcomes for the public, industry and
Maritime New Zealand.

x

We are responsible for our actions.

x

We are committed to our team and the
organisation.

x

We support each other.

Respect
x

We respect competence and technical
expertise.

x

We work together to achieve better
outcomes.

2010

149.6
21.6
128

157.6
21.0
136.3

83
45

91
46

46

45

Equal employment
opportunity employer

We listen to and respect one another’s
views and value the individual skills and
experience each of us brings to the
organisation.

x

2011

Maritime New Zealand has a clear policy on
equal employment opportunities and ensures
that all employees are treated fairly and
encouraged to achieve their full potential.

Recruitment and induction
Maritime New Zealand has a robust, fair and
unbiased recruitment policy, which is regularly
reviewed.

1
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An extensive induction process for new staff
was undertaken four times during 2010/11 to
help integrate new staff into the organisation.

Employment development
Maritime New Zealand’s annual training budget
is allocated in an equitable manner and is
focused on fostering the acquisition of skills
and qualifications that support our people to
meet the current and future requirements of
their work.

Remuneration
Maritime New Zealand ensures that all roles
are independently sized by an external
specialist service provider using a wellrecognised job evaluation system. Maritime
New Zealand references its remuneration each
year against the ‘All Organisations’ market.

Accountability and culture
Maritime New Zealand’s performance
management system was reviewed during
2010/11 to include behaviour characteristics
aligned with the organisation’s values of
Integrity, Respect and Commitment.

Christchurch earthquake
The Maritime New Zealand Lyttelton office was
severely damaged in the February 2011
earthquake. The building was red stickered
following the earthquake and its status has not
changed. The floors where Maritime New
Zealand leased office accommodation will be
demolished soon, with the planned rebuild to
take 12 to 18 months.
As a temporary measure, leased office
accommodation has been taken up in
Rangiora, which will be reviewed towards the
end of the 12-month lease.
As was the case for many other New Zealand
organisations, this event was a powerful
reminder of the importance of our people.
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Delivering value
for money
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Delivering on the key
transport sector objective

We will know we have achieved this
outcome when there is:

The government’s overall transport sector
objective is to seek an effective, efficient, safe,
secure, accessible and resilient transport
system that supports the growth of our
economy to deliver greater prosperity, security
and opportunities for all New Zealanders.

x

a sustained reduction in accidents,
serious harm injuries and fatalities
over a five-year period

x

a proportional reduction in
recreational fatalities per 100,000
boats, also over a five-year period

x

satisfaction with Maritime New
Zealand, demonstrated in maritime
industry surveys.

The key areas of focus for Maritime New
Zealand are improving maritime safety,
protecting the maritime environment, enabling
economic growth in the maritime industry, and
delivering value for money.

Outcome 2: A maritime security
system that supports the effective and
efficient transport of goods and people
by sea

Achieving strategic alignment
To ensure strategic alignment between the
government’s key areas of focus for transport
and what Maritime New Zealand does, a
revamped outcome framework has been
developed.

With close to 99 percent of New Zealand’s
imports and exports (by volume) transported
by sea, this international transport system must
be able to operate without disruption.
Requiring all vessels that visit New Zealand
ports and harbours to comply with the
International Ship and Port Facility Security
Code in accordance with the Maritime Security
Act is key to achieving this.

The new outcome framework has four key
outcomes:

Outcome 1: A maritime community that
actively embraces a safety culture
Safety in New Zealand’s maritime environment
is one of Maritime New Zealand’s key
legislative obligations, as well as being in the
national interest. Maritime New Zealand’s
challenge is to undertake this mandate in a
way that minimises compliance costs for the
maritime sector, at the same time as
maintaining safety standards.

We will know we have achieved our
outcome when:

There are, broadly, two approaches to
achieving the required safety outcomes: either
regulating using a prescriptive set of rules, or
using, as far as possible, outcomes-based
rules and partnering with the maritime
community. Maritime New Zealand supports
this second, partnered approach and will
continue to develop constructive relationships
and appropriate guidance material to build a
safety culture within the maritime community.

x

maritime security inspections reveal a
decreasing number of security
deficiencies over a five-year period

x

New Zealand’s reputation for secure
port facilities is maintained and
enhanced.

Outcome 3: A maritime environment
that is pristine and protected
Activities such as shipping, and offshore oil
and gas development bring important
economic benefits to New Zealand, but they
also represent a risk to the marine
environment. New Zealand’s pristine natural
environment is a key point of difference for the
tourism industry, which also makes a
significant economic contribution.
Maritime New Zealand’s role in contributing to
a maritime environment that is pristine and
protected is defined by the Maritime Transport
Act 1994 and the international conventions that
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Maritime New Zealand administers. Broadly
these relate to oil pollution in the marine
environment, disposal of garbage at sea,
ballast water, and hazardous and noxious
substances. Maritime New Zealand’s challenge
is to foster economic activity around New
Zealand’s shores by minimising compliance
costs, while continuing to safeguard the marine
environment.

(goods and services provided) to the key
functions that Maritime New Zealand
undertakes.
A revised draft of Maritime New Zealand’s
output class structure and associated outputs
was finished by the end of the 2010/11
financial year. This final output structure is
expected to be implemented on 1 July 2012.
The new structure will provide clearer links to
Maritime New Zealand’s inputs and provide a
more transparent basis for determining the
efficiency with which Maritime New Zealand
delivers its goods and services.

We will know we have achieved our
outcome when there is:
x

a reduction in the number of oil spills

x

a reduction in the volume of oil
spilled into the marine environment.

Identifying appropriate costs of
services

Outcome 4: A sustainable and
financially viable maritime sector

The 2010 value for money review
recommended, among other things, that
Maritime New Zealand:

Maritime New Zealand’s work within the
maritime transport system enables economic
activity to happen safely. The organisation,
however, must also be sensitive to its own
impact on economic activity – its interventions
should not unnecessarily limit emerging
activities. This outcome makes an important
contribution to the economic wellbeing of New
Zealanders engaged in the maritime sector,
and to all of New Zealand.

x

develop core financial information sets to
enable the organisation to understand its
cost and funding drivers

x

implement a revised timesheet and
finance coding system that enables the
organisation to manage its business,
understand its activities by sector and
ensure appropriate cost recovery

x

develop the organisation’s intervention
logic, mapping inputs to outputs and
outcomes.
During the second half of the 2010/11 financial
year, a revised time and finance coding system
and associated costing model was developed
to better map costs to sub-outputs. This will
enable Maritime New Zealand to more clearly
identify and articulate efficiency gains achieved
over time.

Key performance measures for Outcome 4
are to be defined in 2011/12.
The full revised outcome framework is detailed
in Maritime New Zealand’s 2011-14 Statement
of Intent.

Achieving value for money

Improved capability alignment

Value for money is delivering the right
services, to the right people, at the right price
to those who use and benefit from these
services.

Late in 2010, Maritime New Zealand undertook
a value for money review to build a better
understanding of its current direction and
performance, to identify any areas for
improved future performance.

Delivering the right services

This led to a review of the Strategy and
Communication and Corporate Services
Groups to ensure services delivered in these
areas were appropriate and cost-effective.

In tandem with a review of Maritime New
Zealand’s input costs and associated funding
drivers, a review was also undertaken of
Maritime New Zealand’s output structure. This
structure had changed very little since the
Maritime Safety Authority was renamed
Maritime New Zealand in July 2005. It was
therefore timely to realign output classes
(groupings of similar outputs) and outputs

Key changes included structural changes to
Maritime New Zealand’s policy function to
improve policy capability through effective
research and analysis, while ensuring that

17
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monitoring and evaluation is a core component
of the overall policy-making process.

Greater collaboration across both the transport
and wider government sectors has identified
opportunities that will deliver cost savings to
Maritime New Zealand in future years.

The finance function was also strengthened to
increase systems and management accounting
expertise. The reviews were completed
towards the end of 2010/11.

Progress on key strategic
projects

The result was a revised organisational
structure for both groups to better align
capability, skill sets and resources, and meet
Maritime New Zealand’s current and future
business needs. The new structure came into
effect from 1 July 2011.

Maritime New Zealand has embarked on a
major programme of work to ensure that the
preconditions for a safe and clean maritime
environment – safe vessels, safe people and
safe operating procedures – are adequately
addressed and that the regulatory frameworks
that support maritime safety are simple, easy
to understand and administer, cost effective
and sustainable.

Business excellence
On 31 August 2010, Maritime New Zealand
completed an organisational assessment
workshop with a facilitator from the New
Zealand Business Excellence Foundation. This
was to identify key organisational strengths
and weaknesses against a number of business
excellence categories.

This programme has identified four key
strategic projects that together will ensure that
Maritime New Zealand’s activities are
appropriate for a modern safety regulator, are
adequately resourced and enable favourable
maritime safety outcomes. These key strategic
projects are briefly outlined below.

Maritime New Zealand’s final assessment
report included:
x

an identification of organisational
strengths and opportunities for
improvement in each category

x

an assessment of organisational results in
the following areas: service outcomes;
stakeholder/customer outcomes; financial
outcomes; workforce/HR outcomes; and
business effectiveness outcomes

x

an overall score of 411 points out of 1000.
It should be noted that the average score
for a first-time assessment of a New
Zealand organisation is around 250 points.

Funding review
The value for money review in 2010 concluded
that Maritime New Zealand delivers value for
money. It said, however, that it was essential
for Maritime New Zealand to undertake a
funding review to develop a sustainable and
flexible funding regime that aligned the
services it delivered with the revenue it
received for them.
The funding review’s purpose is to ensure that
Maritime New Zealand has in place robust,
sustainable and defendable funding
arrangements that:

Information Services
Significant effort this year has gone towards
developing a revised Information Services
strategy to support Maritime New Zealand and
its major new projects – in particular, how we
can deliver cost-effective and robust solutions
that will allow self-service and provide more
focused information via our websites.

x

support business operations within the
maritime regulatory environment and
Maritime New Zealand

x

balance the range of maritime community
interests

x

is flexible and can be modified effectively
and efficiently when required.

During the year, significant progress was made
on the funding review, mapping Maritime New
Zealand’s mandated activities and outputs to
funding options. A consultation document was
scheduled to be released early in 2012, with
the introduction of a revised funding model
expected to be in place by 1 July 2012. This
date has since been deferred following the

There has also been a significant
re-vamp of production hardware that will
provide greater resilience and robustness, and
make it easier for Maritime New Zealand to
move to all-of-government infrastructure
services as they become available.
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Rena incident; a time of resumption has yet to
be determined.

Distress Safety Radio
Work has progressed well on developing a
comprehensive strategy for Maritime New
Zealand to deliver appropriate distress and
safety communications services in the period
2014 to 2025. The strategy will see Maritime
New Zealand continue to meet international
obligations around marine safety distress
communication as well as national
expectations. Maritime New Zealand will
conduct a formal competitive process early in
the next year.

Qualifications and Operational
Limits Framework
Maritime New Zealand has completed its
review of the Qualification and Operational
Limits framework. The outcome is the
development of a new framework that will more
effectively and efficiently meet statutory
obligations and the needs of a modern
maritime sector.
The vision for the new qualifications and
operational limits framework is a world-class
qualifications system that is easy for users to
understand and for Maritime New Zealand to
administer. The system will use advances in
technology to provide accurate online
information and enable applications to be
made online, allowing quick turnaround times
and meeting the requirements of being easy to
use, logical and relevant.

Marine Pollution Response Service
Capability
Purpose
During 2010, an oil pollution preparedness and
response capability review was undertaken. Its
purpose was to assess and report on the
effectiveness of New Zealand’s current marine
oil pollution response capability in general and,
in particular, on whether Maritime New
Zealand is meeting its obligations under the
International Convention on Oil Pollution
Preparedness, Response and Cooperation.

Key benefits to the maritime sector will include:
x

greater emphasis on competence and
proven ability

x

greater emphasis on practical and
assessment components and recognition
of quality of sea service

x

a movement away from the number of
hours of sea service for entry-level
qualifications as a key determinant

x

alignment with Australian and
international standards to ensure
portability of qualifications.

Outcomes
The Review found no significant gaps in New
Zealand’s response capability. It did, however,
identify a number of issues that, if addressed,
would, in the opinion of the review team, make
New Zealand’s response capability significantly
more effective.
The more significant recommendations
included:

Maritime Operator Safety System

x

The current Safe Ship Management system
has proved to be ineffective and will be
replaced by the Maritime Operator Safety
System – a proposed new regulatory safety
framework for the domestic maritime industry.

increased liaison and cooperation with
government agencies regional councils
and the offshore industry

x

increasing the response capability of
offshore oil and gas industry operators

x

the purchase of additional equipment

x

the redeployment of some existing
equipment.

This system will enable Maritime New Zealand
to operate more effectively as the regulator
and to be more flexible, efficient and
responsive to industry change.
The Maritime Operator Safety System has
taken time to develop. Feedback from industry,
however, has made it clear that the maritime
community wants Maritime New Zealand to
take the time to get this right. The new system
is now planned for introduction in early 2013.
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Year in review

Most common methods of reporting Jan 2011-July 2011 ('Other'
and 'None' categories excluded)

Overview

60

Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity. It was
established in August 1993 as the Maritime
Safety Authority and renamed with effect from
1 July 2005 to reflect its expanded mandate of
providing the New Zealand Rescue
Coordination Centre, the Marine Pollution
Response Service, and ensuring compliance
with the Maritime Security Act 2004 and the
International Ship and Port Security Code.

Nu m b er o f rep o rts received

50

New Zealand’s maritime environment is
diverse and constantly changing. It is
characterised by a wide range of activity and
participants – from large merchant ships
serving New Zealand’s international trade, to
commercial fishing, commuter and inter-island
ferry services, recreational boating and
adventure tourism.
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Review of Port State Control
inspections
A comprehensive review of Port State Control
inspection requirements on foreign ships
arriving in New Zealand ports was finalised
early in 2011. Port State Control inspections
are carried out to ensure foreign ships comply
with international maritime conventions and
New Zealand maritime law,

Maritime New Zealand’s work touches the lives
of all those who work on our seas and
waterways, and the many New Zealanders and
tourists who use those same areas for
recreational purposes.
The wide range of functions and activities
undertaken by Maritime New Zealand are
highlighted on the diagram on page 9.

An important outcome of the review was
identifying ways that Maritime New Zealand
could more effectively and efficiently undertake
its Port State Control inspections by
rationalising Port State Control inspection ports
and simplifying guidelines for targeting and
inspection criteria. This new approach has
freed up resources to allow Maritime Safety
Inspectors to concentrate more on the
domestic fleet, and on focused inspection
campaigns and dealing with specific historical
issues such as log ships, cranes and
emergency equipment.

Increasing preference for online
accident reporting
Before January 2011, Maritime New Zealand
relied solely on a paper-based accident
reporting system. This system comprised nine
different forms: having to find, print off,
complete and send in the appropriate form/s
increased the potential for Maritime New
Zealand to capture incomplete or incorrect
information.

Certification improvements
Substantial improvements have been made
during the year to streamline maritime
certificates processing. Favourable comments
are being received from applicants about the
new process and the improved information
now available on the website.

Maritime New Zealand worked with industry
stakeholders, mariners and recreational boaties
to design a new online accident reporting
system. Feedback on this has been positive; it
is seen as being far easier to use. The following
graph illustrates a significant shift over the last
six months of 2010/11 with the preference for
online accident reporting increasing from 15
percent to 68 percent.

Business improvement activities will continue
in this area later in 2011. This will focus on
developing guidelines to support students
during the certification process.
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Recreational boating

Raising survey standards
Maritime New Zealand continues to focus on
survey standards and the fit-for-purpose status
of vessels. Maritime New Zealand’s Maritime
Safety Inspectors have been inspecting all
vessels within six months of the issue of fit–forpurpose certificates. Of the 807 vessels
inspected in the 12 months ended June 2011,
81 percent or 654 vessels met the criteria,
153 vessels did not. Audits of safe ship
management companies also revealed that
they were not meeting the requirements of the
maritime rules. As a result, oversight of these
companies has increased. This is a serious
issue for Maritime New Zealand, which has
priority for the Maritime Services team.

Promoting safe boating
Failure to wear lifejackets is the number one
cause of fatalities in recreational boating
statistics. A safety awareness campaign
promoting the wearing of lifejackets ran from
October 2010 to April 2011.
Post-campaign analysis identified that
77 percent of boat owners saw or heard the
campaign, which illustrates a high level of
awareness (typically advertising awareness
sits around 50 percent). There was also a
small shift in boating safety behaviour, with
more boat owners saying the advertising had
made them start to wear a lifejacket (from
3 percent to 9 percent) and 43 percent saying
the advertisements were a useful reminder to
wear lifejackets. This provides a sound
platform for creating behaviour change in the
longer term.

Foreign chartered fishing vessels
Safety oversight of foreign chartered fishing
vessels is a complicated issue. They are
flagged to another country and required to
meet that country’s standards. When these
vessels operate around New Zealand’s coast
they are subject to six-monthly inspections by
Maritime New Zealand. After two years’
continuous operation, operators are then
required to meet domestic safe ship
management standards. Maritime New
Zealand’s oversight and monitoring increases
as a result, but some vessel safety standards
are still low.

Review of adventure tourism
Maritime New Zealand, as the agency
responsible for administering the Health and
Safety in Employment Act 1992 for the
maritime sector, contributed to the
development of draft safety regulations for the
adventure tourism and outdoor education
sectors. These regulations are expected to
come into force in October 2011. The
regulations also establish a safety auditor
accreditation body and a register of adventure
operators. The Department of Labour will be
responsible for administering the audit
scheme, which will not apply to any adventure
activities that require a maritime document.

A Ministerial Inquiry into foreign chartered
fishing vessels fishing in New Zealand’s
Exclusive Economic Zone is to be undertaken
later in 2011. The principal focus of this inquiry
will be on protecting New Zealand’s
international reputation and trade access,
maximising the economic return from our
fisheries and ensuring safe and equitable
conditions onboard all fishing vessels
operating within the Exclusive Economic Zone.

During the year, Maritime New Zealand also
worked with the Department of Labour on a
number of related initiatives. These included:
x

developing a minimum safety audit
standard for the adventure sector

x

adopting Maritime New Zealand activityspecific standards, where available (eg,
the white-water boarding guidelines)

x

co-ordinating communication material to
adventure operators to reflect Maritime
New Zealand’s role as the designated
health and safety agency for the maritime
sector.

Upholding ship and port security
Gathering and assessing security information
is important to understanding the security
situation and response required to mitigate a
threat. Maritime New Zealand has developed
capability to assess and produce unique
maritime intelligence reports that contribute to
New Zealand’s domestic security. The
feedback from the maritime industry and
security agencies continues to be positive.
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The United States Coast Guard formally visited
New Zealand and confirmed our compliance
with the International Ship and Port Security
Code. It was acknowledged that Maritime New
Zealand’s accomplishments in implementing
effective security measures demonstrated New
Zealand’s commitment to port security.

Environmental Protection Authority, to the
exclusive economic zone and the extended
continental shelf. The expected outcome from
legislative measures is a balance between
resource development and protection of the
marine environment, starting from exploratory
drilling in New Zealand’s exclusive economic
zone during the summer of 2011/12.

Maritime New Zealand support to
Deepwater Horizon oil spill

Oil Pollution Levy
The Oil Pollution Levy is used to support oil
pollution preparedness and response functions
as set out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
For the last 12 years, the levy has been set at
a level below that required to recover the costs
of the Oil Pollution Fund. A recent review of the
levy found that the current under-recovery was
no longer sustainable, with cash reserves
expected to be extinguished by mid 2012. The
review also identified more equitable and
effective ways of determining the levy payable
by the maritime industry.

The Macondo well blowout in the Gulf of
Mexico in the United States occurred on
20 April 2010, when control of rising well
pressure was lost, followed by failure of the
well blowout preventer. Maritime New Zealand
received a request for assistance – the only
government agency from outside the United
States to be involved in the Deepwater Horizon
incident response.
Principal lessons for New Zealand are the
need for:
x

sustainable control and management of
offshore oil and gas resources

x

comprehensive risk assessment and risk
management of the offshore oil and gas
industry activities by government and
industry

x

development and implementation of
adequate safety, containment, and
recovery systems for offshore operations,
especially those in deep water

x

establishment of an appropriate and
adequate regulatory regime for the
offshore industry, with clearly defined
responsibilities and accountabilities

x

regular assessment and review of
response capabilities of government and
industry against assessed risks.

Maritime New Zealand consulted with the
industry to determine whether a new method
should be adopted to allocate levy charges to
operators. Early 2011/12 Maritime New
Zealand will release its proposed changes to
levy payers for comment, with a revised levy
regime expected to be implemented with effect
from 1 July 2012.

Search and rescue incidents
During 2010/11 the Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand coordinated 698
Category II search and rescue 2 incidents and
provided direct support to New Zealand Police
on 35 occasions. Category II incident numbers
have risen by over 100 from last year and
there has been a rise in the tasking of search
and rescue assets to respond to incidents.

Regulation of the offshore oil
exploration and production sector

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
coordinated the rescue efforts for the sinking of
the Oyang 70 in August. The Korean
registered fishing vessel sank some 400
nautical miles east of Dunedin with the loss of
six lives. Forty five survivors were pulled from
the freezing waters in a remarkable rescue
effort. Other significant incidents included an
extensive search in Antarctica for the

Maritime New Zealand contributed to a review
of New Zealand health, safety and
environmental regulation of the offshore
petroleum sector, following heightened
concerns internationally over the Montara and
Macondo well blowouts, and subsequent big
marine oil spills in the Timor Sea (2009) and
the Gulf of Mexico (2010).

2

Maritime New Zealand has also contributed to
development of legislation to introduce a
consenting regime, administered by the
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Norwegian vessel Berserk; the very
challenging search for a micro-light aircraft
missing on a long flight from Auckland to
Ashburton; major searches for missing
helicopters near Invercargill and in the
Southern Alps; and several missions into the
Pacific Islands, particularly to Kirabati. Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand’s
performance in these and other incidents
attracted widespread positive comment from
other government departments involved, as
well as friends and families of the people in
distress.

Growth in beacon registration

Improving search and rescue
capability

Registration of distress beacons continues to
pay dividends, with most false or inadvertent
activations being solved with a simple phone
call to the registered contact recorded in the
beacons database. Being able to get additional
information from the registration is saving lives;
being able to quickly resolve false alerts is
saving money.

There are now over 30,000 beacons registered
with Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
– up almost 5,000 from last year. The total
number of alerts has also risen this year (from
333 to 431) although the number of real
distress incidents with beacon alerts is very
similar to last year (94 versus 91). This
suggests that, although there are more
beacons in circulation, the rate of use is
actually reducing. This could show that key
messages about preparation and taking
personal responsibility are having some effect.

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand has
also been busy this year developing,
supporting, promoting and implementing
improvements to the search and rescue
system in New Zealand.
Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand was
restructured to improve its ability to respond to
incidents and to support development
activities. Staff led, managed and delivered
training to other search and rescue partners,
including 13 Air Observers courses for almost
500 students, cross-sector search and rescue
workshops, and training and liaison visits to
different areas of New Zealand.
In the Pacific Region there was a major push
to develop cooperative plans and improve
coordination services. Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand visited the Cook Islands,
took part in a regional search and rescue
forum in Australia and conducted an evaluation
visit to Kirabati, focused on helping to improve
local search and rescue capabilities. A
comprehensive Pacific Islands Search and
Rescue Response Plan is being developed
and we also took part in the recent multidepartment, multi-agency visit programme to
the Pacific Islands.
For search and rescue coordination there
remain challenges around resources,
communication and funding but overall there
has been positive progress – both close to
home, as the concept of ‘One search and
rescue family’ begins to take hold, and in the
wider search and rescue region.
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Our performance
against the plan
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Progress against strategic goals
The 2010-13 Statement of Intent mapped out Maritime New Zealand’s revised strategic direction, with
the development of six strategic goals to address the challenges facing the maritime industry.
Contained within the six strategic goals were 40 strategic initiatives for the 2010/11 year; 26 of which
were completed on time; five were partially completed and a further nine were not completed.
A summary of progress against these strategic goals during 2010/11 is below:
Performance Measure

Comment

Strategic goal 1
Achieve a level of funding that
will sustain Maritime New
Zealand’s delivery of services
into the future

4 strategic initiatives: 2 completed, 2 not completed
Key activities completed included mapping of Maritime
New Zealand’s mandated activities and outputs to funding
options, and the development of a revised output
structure.
A funding model is expected to be in place by mid 2012.

Strategic goal 2
Implement a safety regulatory
framework that is simple, risk
aligned and minimises
compliance costs

12 strategic initiatives: 5 completed, 7 not completed
Good progress made against some objectives under this
goal, developing the proposed new regulatory safety
framework for the domestic maritime industry.
The framework is expected to be completed by June 2013.

Strategic goal 3
Identify and meet the changing
needs of the maritime
community

2 strategic initiatives: 2 completed
Both the gap analysis of SOLAS 3 amendments and the
stakeholder engagement framework were completed
within agreed timeframes.

Strategic goal 4
Maintain operational and
response capability at an
appropriate level of performance

13 strategic initiatives: 10 completed, 3 partially
completed
Significant progress was made to ensure that an
appropriate national distress and safety communications
system is in place by 2014.
A formal Memorandum of Understanding was signed with
Australia to cooperatively implement MEOSAR 4 .

Strategic goal 5
Continue to develop our people
and organisation so Maritime
New Zealand is a great place to
work

6 strategic initiatives: 4 completed, 2 partially
completed
Good progress has been made on all objectives under this
goal. Scoping of potential technology to support the
performance management system will be completed
towards the end of 2011.

Strategic goal 6
Ensure systems and processes
are efficient and effective.

3 strategic initiatives: 3 completed
An external assessment against the New Zealand Criteria
for Performance Excellence (Business Excellence
framework) was completed and an action plan based on
the results implemented.

Key
3
4

Completed

Status

Partially completed

Not completed

International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974
Medium Earth Orbit Search and Rescue (MEOSAR) is the international satellite network system that will pick
up distress signals from 406MHz beacons.
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Strategic goal 1 – Achieve a level of funding that will sustain
Maritime New Zealand’s delivery of services into the future
Objective
Maritime New Zealand has three business strands: Maritime New Zealand’s safety, security and
marine environment protection regulatory functions; the Marine Pollution Response Service; and the
Rescue Co-ordination Centre New Zealand. Each of these strands has a different funding stream, but
the success of each entity depends on having sustainable funding in the future.

Strategic initiative
Ensure that Maritime New Zealand provides value-for-money service to the maritime industry and the
government, and that its revenue is sustainable:
Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Complete Value for Money
Review Report

Sep 2010

Completed

Develop an implementation
action plan from Value for Money
Review Report

Nov 2010

Completed
An implementation action plan was approved by
the Authority at its March 2011 meeting.

Prepare and issue a consultation
document relating to appropriate
services and functions of
Maritime New Zealand, with
associated options for funding for
Maritime New Zealand

Oct 2010

Not completed
The Value of Money Review report in September
2010 recommended a new scope for the
consultation document which changed the
timeframe. A Funding Review Project Plan was
instead agreed, in March 2011. This required
comprehensive cost and activity analysis,
development of future funding options, and
stakeholder involvement in the development of a
consultation document. The Funding Review
Project commenced with new deliverables
programmed for completion in 2011/12.

Introduce revised funding
arrangements for Maritime New
Zealand

June 2011

Not Completed
This work will commence when options for funding
Maritime New Zealand have been determined as
an outcome of the Funding Review Project.
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Strategic goal 2 – Implement a safety regulatory framework that is
simple, risk aligned and minimises compliance costs
Objective
The existing safety framework is not as effective as it could be in achieving safety outcomes. An
appropriate safety regulatory framework needs to be implemented, encompassing vessels and
organisations throughout the maritime industry.

Strategic initiatives
1.

Complete consultation on proposed changes to the operational framework for the domestic
commercial sector, including rules, guidance material and education programmes:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Complete consultation on
proposed rule amendments

Aug 2010

Completed.
Consultation completed end July, with oral
submission hearings held in Auckland and
Wellington

Complete analysis of
submissions

Nov 2010

Completed.

Recommend final rules to the
Authority and Minister, following
analysis of submissions

Feb 2011

Not completed
Further work has been done on survey service
delivery options in response to public submissions.
This work has been discussed with the Minister
and a paper for his consideration was forwarded in
July 2011. It is anticipated that this will be followed
by a report to Cabinet.
Recommendations to the Authority on the final
shape of the rules will not therefore be presented
until this process has been completed.

2.

Subject to the outcome of the above actions, implement a revised operational framework that
delivers a safety management system for the domestic commercial sector that focuses on
operators taking responsibility for the safety of their operation:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Commence pilot scheme for
revised system

Feb 2011

Complete internal procedures
and advisory material, including
revised workflows

Mar 2011

Not Completed
This project was delayed as it was dependent on the
outcomes of the strategic initiative above. Revised
timelines were developed in the 2011/14 Statement
of Intent, with the implementation of the revised
operational framework expected to be completed by
June 2013.

Complete preparation of external
advisory material and material to
support associated education
programmes

Apr 2011

Roll out external advisory
programme

Jun 2011
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3.

Introduce a new qualifications and operational limits framework that is current, flexible and
aligned with industry needs:

Description of work
Complete draft framework for
new qualification system

Timeframe
Aug 2010

Progress made
Completed.
Draft framework was completed and released for
consultation on 27 September 2010.

Complete consultation on new
qualifications framework

Oct 2010

Completed.
17 public meetings were held throughout New
Zealand from October to November 2010 to
present the proposed framework, with a total of 501
industry attendees.

Confirm new qualification
framework

May 2011

Completed.
New qualification framework confirmed by the
Authority during the quarter and released. Work is
now proceeding on developing a Regulatory Impact
Statement and rules framework.

4.

Maritime New Zealand is clear about its regulatory role and functions, and exercises its powers
and obligations in accordance with its statutory mandate:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Develop an implementation plan
for the introduction of the
compliance model

Jul 2010

Not Completed
This project has been put on hold, given other
priorities within Maritime New Zealand. Despite
this, the principles behind the compliance model
have been used in regulatory development and
continuous improvement work during the year. For
example, processes and procedures for issuing
maritime certificates of competency are being
reviewed and refined in line with the compliance
model.
The compliance model continues to be
championed by the Authority and a revised action
plan to review and evaluate the effectiveness and
application of the compliance framework is
included in the 2011/14 Statement of Intent. This
project is expected to be completed by June 2013.

Introduce and implement
compliance model

Jun 2011

Not Completed
A compliance statement and model was delivered
by the project team. However, for the above
reasons, the project has been put on hold.
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Strategic goal 3 – Identify and meet the changing needs of the
maritime community
Objective
Maritime New Zealand will more proactively anticipate the future needs of stakeholders, to ensure
both legislation and Maritime New Zealand services can meet those needs.

Strategic Initiatives
1.

Integrate and implement changes to SOLAS 5 and STCW 6 conventions into New Zealand
legislation and maritime rules:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Complete a gap analysis of
SOLAS amendments that need to
be incorporated into maritime
legislation

Mar 2011

Completed
Gap analysis of SOLAS amendments completed.
The next step in the process is to identify key
decision points for incorporating SOLAS
regulations into the Maritime rules.

2.

Continue to develop productive working relationships with the maritime industry and other
stakeholders:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Establish a framework that
enables effective stakeholder
engagement

Dec 2010

Completed
The stakeholder engagement framework has been
completed, as has the way in which Maritime New
Zealand will use the framework to identify and
engage with stakeholders. Work continues on the
implementation of the framework.

5

International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974

6

International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers 1978
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Strategic goal 4 – Maintain operational and response capability at
an appropriate level of performance
Objective
A key role of Maritime New Zealand is the provision of a 24/7 search and rescue response service. A
vital part of this service is the distress and safety communication and safety navigation systems
Maritime New Zealand provides. All mariners – commercial, recreational and military – rely on these
systems to keep them safe and provide support when needed.

Strategic initiatives
1.

Ensure that an appropriate national distress and safety communications system is in place that
will support the maritime community in the 2014-2025 timeframe:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Consider options and complete the Jul 2010
strategy for the Maritime New
Zealand distress and safety
communication system

Completed
Results have been included in the scope of the
project below.

Complete implementation plan for
Maritime New Zealand distress
and safety communication
strategy identifying key
milestones

Partially completed
Extensive stakeholder consultation and benchmarking with international jurisdictions completed.

2.

Dec 2010

The Authority has clearly defined the required
outcomes for the period from 2014 to 2025 and work
on a contested process for a major new contract is
well advanced. A formal Request for Proposal is
scheduled for release to prospective tenders in
August 2011. It is expected that the implementation
plan for Maritime New Zealand’s distress and safety
communication strategy with key milestones will be
completed by December 2011.

Develop the Rescue Coordination Centre of New Zealand as a centre of excellence for
coordination of search and rescue in New Zealand’s area of responsibility:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Complete internal restructuring to
improve operational support
activities

Sep 2010

Completed
The Rescue Coordination Centre of New Zealand
was restructured to improve the availability of
resources to support the direct operational tasks
coordinating search and rescue and operational
support activities.

Initiate MEOSAR 7 project:

Aug 2010

Completed
A formal Memorandum of Understanding has been
signed with the Australian Maritime Safety Authority
agreeing on a joint approach to MEOSAR.
The study was completed by independent, expert
technical advisors and clearly details the future
requirements for MEOSAR, risks, benefits and costs,
forming a solid base for the project to go forward.

x

develop formal cooperation
agreement with Australian
Search and Rescue Authority

x

complete Project Definition
Study

7

Dec 2010

Medium Earth Orbit Search and Rescue (MEOSAR) is the international satellite network system that will pick
up distress signals from 406MHz beacons.
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3.

Effectively resource and train for the coordination of significant maritime incidents:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Develop and implement an
emergency response
communications network

Oct 2010

Completed

Prepare ministerial aide memoire
on Maritime New Zealand’s roles
and responsibilities during
maritime incidents

Dec 2010

Partially completed
Draft aide memoire is under review and expected
to be finalised in December 2011.

Prepare and distribute a report on
roles and responsibilities of
responders to a maritime incident

Dec 2010

Completed

Develop and implement a training
framework

Dec 2010

Completed

Train six key response staff in
incident management

Jun 2011

Completed
Incident management training completed for key
response personnel.

Conduct at least two Maritime
Incident Response Team
exercises

Jun 2011

Completed

4.

Ensure funding for the Marine Pollution Response Service covers the cost of providing the
service:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Complete a capability review of
New Zealand’s oil pollution
preparedness and response
capability

Apr 2011

Completed

Consult with the maritime industry
and introduce a new oil pollution
levy

Jun 2011

Partially completed
Consultation with industry completed. New levy
planned to be in place by July 2012.

5.

Maintain Marine Pollution Response Service as the centre of excellence for oil pollution matters:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Review and update a new marine
oil spill strategy

Jun 2011

Completed
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Strategic goal 5 – Continue to develop our people and organisation
so Maritime New Zealand is a great place to work
Objective
Attracting and retaining the right people, and creating the right work environment so that our people
are able to work effectively and efficiently, will always be of key importance.

Strategic Initiatives
1.

Empower, train, develop and recognise or reward our people to attract and retain the right people
with the right skills to fulfil our organisation’s responsibilities:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Develop and implement an
annual training plan aligned with
Maritime New Zealand’s strategic
direction

Sept 2010

Completed

Review remuneration policy and
procedures

Jun 2011

Partially completed
Draft Remuneration Policy and Procedures
updated to reflect final wording in the collective
employment agreement. The document will be
circulated to all staff and to the PSA for comment
before finalisation. It is anticipated this process will
be completed by the end of July 2011.

2.

Articulate and embed clearly understood values and associated behaviours across Maritime New
Zealand:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Identify Maritime New Zealand
values and associated
behaviours

Dec 2010

Completed

Embed the values and associated
behaviours in the Maritime New
Zealand performance
management system

Jun 2011

Completed
Performance Plan templates amended to include
highlighted sections dedicated to Maritime New
Zealand values and circulated with customised
guidelines for management and staff.

Scope and identify appropriate
technology to support
performance review system

Jun 2011

Partially completed
Initial work has been undertaken to identify key
selection criteria and a range of potential
technology products. The final step, to be
completed by December 2011, is to assess each
product to identify the best performance review
system for Maritime New Zealand.

3.

Implement and promote a Health and Safety Culture within Maritime New Zealand:

Description of work

Timeframe

Progress made

Obtain Accident Compensation
Corporation Workplace Safety
Management Practices secondary
audit pass

Jun 2011

Completed
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Strategic goal 6 – Ensure systems and process are efficient
and effective
Objective
Processing regulatory documentation efficiently and accurately, to minimise costs of compliance for
the maritime industry, is an important goal. It is also important to provide the right information,
application forms and other relevant material in a user-friendly form, so that people can use it with
minimal assistance from Maritime New Zealand staff.

Strategic initiatives
1.

Complete an external assessment against the New Zealand Criteria for Performance Excellence
(Business Excellence framework) and implement an action plan based on the results:

Description of work
Complete an assessment against
the business excellence criteria

Timeframe
Sept 2010

Progress made
Completed

Develop and implement an action
plan based on assessment
results

Nov 2010

Completed

2.

Improve organisational reports to assist decision making:

Description of work
Review and identify
organisational reporting that will
assist management decision
making, including defining a set
of key performance indicators

Timeframe
Jun 2011

Progress made
Completed
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Outcome performance
Maritime New Zealand has developed a series of outcome measures (referred to as ‘targets’) that
monitor progress against Maritime New Zealand’s desired maritime sector outcomes:
x

maritime safety (minimise all maritime accidents, injuries and fatalities – all targets except E)

x

marine pollution (minimise the impact of marine oil spilled into the environment – target E).

Progress against these targets is detailed below.

Target A: International vessels
No increase in accidents, fatalities and serious injuries involving international SOLAS 8 vessels in New
Zealand waters and New Zealand SOLAS vessels anywhere, per 100 international and New Zealand
SOLAS vessels.

The number of accidents on international and SOLAS vessels has decreased slightly over the 2010/11
year. There were 53 accidents this year, compared with 55 the previous year. But the longer-term
trend is of a general increase in the number of accidents on vessels in this category.
However, the accident rate (number of accidents/number of vessels), which takes into account
fluctuations in the number of vessels, shows that there is in fact a slight improvement over the year,
continuing the longer-term slight downward trend.

8

International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974
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The number of fatalities on international and SOLAS vessels was the same in 2010-2011 as in the
previous year. There were two fatalities in each year, continuing a relatively stable trend over time.
There were 16 serious injuries in the 2010-2011 year, fewer than the 21 recorded in the 2009-2010
year, and continuing the longer-term downward trend.
A comprehensive review of Port State Control inspection requirements was finalised early in 2011, the
first review undertaken on Port State Control inspection requirements since New Zealand acceded to
the Tokyo Memorandum of Understanding on 1 April 1994.
A key outcome of the review was the identification of ways that Maritime New Zealand could more
effectively and efficiently undertake its Port State Control inspections by rationalising Port State
Control inspection ports and implementing simplified guidelines for targeting and inspection criteria.
This new approach to Port State Control inspections is expected to free up resources to allow
Maritime Safety Inspectors to concentrate more on the domestic fleet and enable more emphasis to
be placed on focused inspection campaigns and dealing with specific historical issues such as log
ships, cranes and emergency equipment.
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Target B: SSM and SOP vessels (non-fishing)
A 50 percent reduction in all accidents, fatalities and serious injuries per 100 passenger and
non-passenger vessels operating under safety management systems

The number of accidents on vessels operating under Safe Ship Management and Safe Operational
Plans has decreased from 109 in the 2009/10 year to 100 in the 2010/11 year. This continues the
longer-term trend of a general decrease in the number of accidents on vessels in this category. The
accident rate (number of accidents averaged over the number of vessels) in this category mirrors the
number of accidents very closely, indicating that the variance in the number of accident is an accurate
reflection, and not an artefact of fluctuating numbers of vessels.

There were no fatalities on Safe Ship Management and Safe Operational Plan vessels in the 2010/11
year, and only one in the previous 2009/10 year. This continues the longer-term trend of a general
decrease in fatalities in this category. There were 18 serious injuries on Safe Ship Management and
Safe Operational Plan vessels in the 2010/11 year, compared with 13 in the previous year. This has
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contributed towards a rising trend in the number of reported serious injuries over recent years.
However, comparison with Accident Compensation Corporation data on injuries indicates that this
apparent trend in fact reflects improved reporting practice rather than a greater number of injuries.
Analysis of the New Zealand commercial fleet has found that the majority of accidents, serious harm
and fatalities are a result of operator error. The current Safe Ship Management system has proved to
be ineffective and will be replaced in 2013 by the Maritime Operator Safety System – a proposed new
regulatory safety framework for the domestic maritime industry. This system will enable Maritime New
Zealand to operate more effectively as the regulator and be more flexible, efficient and responsive to
industry change.

Target C: Pleasure boating
A 25 percent reduction in fatalities per 100,000 pleasure boats

Fatalities in recreational boating decreased over the 2010/11 year. There were 13 fatalities compared
with 20 in the previous year, reverting to a downward trend.
The National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum has endorsed the continuing strategy of targeting
educational messages as key factors in fatal accidents. Failure to wear lifejackets is the number one
cause of fatalities in recreational boating statistics. A safety awareness campaign promoting the
wearing of lifejackets ran for a seven month period from October 2010 through to April 2011.
The Folau Malu (journey safely) programme, a joint initiative between Maritime New Zealand and a
number of agencies, was launched during 2010/11. The Folau Malu group is made up of several
Pacific Island volunteers who recently completed a Coastguard day skipper, the first phase of their
training to become Maritime New Zealand Safe Boating Advisors. The programme promotes safe
boating practices in the Pacific Island community, which is disproportionately represented in boating
fatality statistics.
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Target D: Fishing
A 50 percent reduction in accidents, fatalities and serious injuries, per 100 New Zealand commercial
and New Zealand foreign chartered fishing vessels

Reported accidents in commercial fishing vessels have decreased slightly in the 2010/11 year to
62 reported accidents from 64 the previous year. However, the accident rate per 100 vessels has
increased slightly, with 5.58 accidents per hundred vessels in the 2010/11 year compared with
5.42 the previous year. This data includes foreign chartered fishing vessels.

Fatalities in commercial fishing vessels showed a marked increase in the 2010/11 year at seven
fatalities compared with none the previous year. Six of these fatalities occurred in one incident, and
this was reflected in an upturn in the longer-term trend. However, it should be noted that these
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fatalities occurred on foreign chartered fishing vessels operating under Safe Ship Management, not
New Zealand-flagged vessels. Serious injuries in commercial fishing vessels also increased in the
2010/11 year to 19 from 12 the previous year, and this was also reflected in an upturn in the trend.
Analysis has shown that accidents, serious injuries and fatalities are commonly a result of human error
in New Zealand’s commercial domestic fleet. Maritime New Zealand is working with industry and
government agencies to proactively address work place injuries. An example of this is FishSAFE, an
industry/government partnership that developed a series of interventions aimed at raising safetyawareness and increasing safety practice. The Accident Compensation Corporation believes the
FishSAFE programme has been very effective, calculating that the return on investment has been
about 5:1 in dollar terms.
A strategic Health and Safety Action Plan for the Commercial Fishing Sector through to 2013 is
currently being developed with the FishSAFE group. The plan aims to maintain and build shared
leadership and ownership of workplace health and safety problems. It is intended that the fishing
sector health and safety strategy, when finalised, will be replicated for other industry sectors.

Target E: Oil spilled from vessels
A 50 percent reduction in the amount of oil spilled from vessels into the marine environment

The volume of oil spilt in the 2010/11 year increased to 2.8 tonnes from 1.4 tonnes the previous year.
A review of Maritime New Zealand’s Oil Pollution Preparedness and Response Capability was
undertaken by Clarke Shipping in 2010/11. The purpose of the review was to assess current systems
and resources applied to oil spill response and decide whether these fulfilled current obligations. The
review identified no significant gaps in the current response system, but did recommend a $1.2M
capital expenditure programme to further improve New Zealand’s capability response.
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Target F: Adventure tourism
A 50 percent reduction in all accidents, serious injuries and fatalities, per 100 commercial marine craft
engaged in adventure tourism

Accidents in the adventure tourism category (rafts and jet boats) increased in the 2010/11 year, with
22 accidents recorded compared with 15 in the previous year. This has raised the longer term trend.
The accident rate also shows an increase to 5.77 from 3.96 the previous year. Because there are a
relatively small number of vessels in this category, the accident rate mirrors the accident count closely,
and the longer term trend of the accident rate also shows an upturn. There were no fatalities in the
adventure tourism category in the 2010/11 year, or in the previous year, resulting in a longer-term
trend of zero.

There was an increase in the number of serious accidents, from four in the 2009/10 year to seven in
the 2010/11 year. However, the longer-term trend remains down.
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During 2010/11, Maritime Rule Part 82: Commercial Jet Boat Operations – River was developed. The
proposed changes follow a number of accident investigations and a comprehensive review of the
sector, which have identified some areas of the safety management framework that can be improved.
A significant potential policy change in Rule 82 is the recommended introduction of a New Zealand
Commercial Jet boat Driver (River) Licence, a practical driving test, and ongoing competency
assessments. Other proposed changes include requirements for drivers to record their hours of
driving, provision for an emergency exit for jet boats operating on braided rivers, passenger footrests
on jet boats undertaking thrill-type rides, and passengers being briefed about risks before they
undertake a trip. This rule is expected to be implemented next year.

Target G: Commercial paddle craft
To minimise all fatalities, accidents and serious injuries involving all paddle craft (other than river rafts)
operating commercially

The number of accidents in this category rose from one in the 2009/10 year to four in the 2010/11
year. There were no fatalities in the paddle craft category recorded in the 2010/11 year, consistent
with previous years. The number of serious injuries reported in this category also rose to three from
none the previous year.
Maritime New Zealand contributed to the development of the Adventure Activities Regulations for land and
water-based commercial adventure activities, to come into force on 1 November 2011. The regulations
come under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 and address safety concerns identified in the
Review of Risk Management and Safety in the Adventure and Outdoor Commercial Sectors.

The new regulations will require operators (other than commercial jet boating and rafting operators,
who are already required to undergo safety audits) to be registered with the Department of Labour
after undergoing a safety audit by an accredited audit provider. It is intended that Maritime New
Zealand’s current safety guidelines for these activities will be used as a basis for auditing standards.
The regulations will put in place a safety framework that will provide greater levels of assurance that
higher risk activities meet appropriate safety standards.
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Target H: Maritime workplace activity
A 25 percent reduction in all fatalities and serious injuries resulting from maritime workplace activity

The number of fatalities increased in the 2010/11 year, with nine fatalities compared with three the
previous year; and this has resulted in an upturn in the longer-term trend. However, it should be noted
that this figure includes the foreign chartered fishing vessels operating under Safe Ship Management.
The number of serious injuries also increased in the 2010/11 year. However, the longer-term trend
remains level.
The serious injuries index has decreased this quarter, with 13 injuries reported. This compares with
14 serious injuries reported in the same quarter of the previous year. The fatalities index also
decreased over the quarter, with no fatalities compared with two in the June 2010 quarter.
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Statement of service performance
Maritime New Zealand’s statement of service performance has been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practice. The Statement of Service Performance spans three output
classes:
x

Output class 1: Maritime regulation and monitoring

x

Output class 2: Marine environment protection

x

Output class 3: Search and rescue activities.

These classes highlight the wide range of activities and responsibilities Maritime New Zealand is
asked to oversee.

Output class 1: Maritime regulation and monitoring
The purpose of this output class is to promote safety, security and protection of the marine
environment in New Zealand and beyond New Zealand, in accordance with New Zealand’s
international obligations. It also includes the promotion of compliance with safety and marine pollution
standards in the maritime system.
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
x

1.1: Legislative and regulatory frameworks

x

1.2: Communication and education

x

1.3: Maritime operations and services

x

1.4: Maritime security

x

1.5: Maritime distress and safety radio, and navigational aids

x

1.6: Health and safety on board vessels.
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Output 1.1: Legislative and regulatory frameworks
Key functions:
x

to administer the international obligations of the Crown under the treaties, memoranda, and other
international maritime and marine environment protection agreements agreed with the Minister of
Transport

x

to develop and maintain maritime rules

x

to advise the Minister of Transport on technical maritime safety policy

x

to cooperate with, or provide advice and assistance to any government agency or local
government agency when requested to do so by the Minister

x

to ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the improvement and
development of its safety and security

x

to maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s functions.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

26
52
14
11

100%
100%

New measure

New measure

100%

$1,807,000
$2,094,000
($287,000)

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Replies to ministerial correspondence
Replies to parliamentary questions
Maritime/marine protection rules under development

30
27
9

15
11

International Maritime Organization meetings
attended
Quality
Draft replies to ministerial correspondence accepted
by the Ministry of Transport on first submission
Draft replies to parliamentary questions accepted by
the Ministry of Transport on first submission

30–40
40–50
14
10

87%

92%

44%

92%

97%

100%

93%

100%

0%

100%

$1,937,000
$3,042,000
($1,105,000)

$1,745,000
$2,724,000
($979,000)

Timeliness
Ministerial correspondence provided within
timeframes specified by the Minister’s office/ Ministry
of Transport
Parliamentary questions provided within timeframes
specified by the Minister’s office or Ministry of
Transport
10

Rules programme completed in accordance with the
rules contract, subject to any variations agreed with
Ministry of Transport
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Target
2010/11

Parliamentary questions
Eleven parliamentary questions provided early in the 2010/11 year to the Ministry of Transport, while
accurately answered, were not accepted on first submission as more substantial detail was required.
This materially affected the quality dimension for parliamentary question performance.

2010/11 Rules programme
The 2010/11 rules programme was not completed in accordance with the rules contract timelines
agreed with the Ministry of Transport. There were a number of reasons for this: firstly, despite a verbal
agreement to vary from the rules contract, no formal variation was actually sought from the Ministry of
9

Includes marine protection rules that were originally reported separately in Output 2.2.

10

The status of ‘completed’ is achieved on the date the Minister signs the rule.
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Transport. Secondly, the requirement to complete a Regulatory Impact Statement for rules has added
significantly more time to the rules development process. This requirement was not satisfactorily built
in to the original time frames agreed in the development of 2010/11 rules contract. Thirdly, an
organisational review, which included the rules team, significantly affected work flow in the latter part
of the 2010/11 financial year.

Output 1.2: Communication and education
Key functions:
x

to provide information on maritime transport and marine protection

x

to foster appropriate information education programmes about maritime transport and marine
protection that promote Maritime New Zealand’s objectives.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

9
36,000
4
4

94%

76%

100%
100%
100%

$2,652,000
$2,255,000
$397,000

11

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Regional boat shows attended by Maritime New
Zealand
11

Safety resource packs distributed to the recreational
community
Number of times Maritime New Zealand’s key safety
magazine Lookout! is published
Number of times Maritime New Zealand’s corporate
magazine Safe Seas Clean Seas is published
Quality
Survey respondents who find Maritime New Zealand
key publications Lookout! and Safe Seas Clean Seas
useful
People who recall boating safety television advertising
(as gauged by survey)
Timeliness
Availability of Maritime New Zealand’s 24/7 media line
Key publications Lookout! and Safe Seas Clean Seas
completed by scheduled due date
Maritime New Zealand guidance notices (including
safety bulletins) published and distributed within 10
days of receiving the final draft
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Target
2010/11
7

6

26,000

25,000

4

4

4

4

94%

80%

77%

80%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

$5,800,000
$3,494,000
$2,306,000

$5,481,000
$4,909,000
$572,000

Resource packs include a DVD on safe boating in New Zealand; a booklet entitled Safe Boating: An essential
guide; a boat dashboard sticker covering tips about boating safety, including basic rules and a safety
checklist, the Boaties Book, containing advice and local knowledge; and a waste disposal/pollution sticker.
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Output 1.3: Maritime operations and services
Key functions:
x

to grant maritime documents

x

to maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships

x

to license ships, their operation and their crews

x

to monitor adherence to regulatory requirements

x

to enforce the provisions of the Maritime Transport Act (MTA), Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act (HSNO), including regulations and rules made under these Acts

x

to investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents

x

to grant exemptions.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

571
3,370
219
14
558
1,084
83
New measure
504
68
4

New measure
New measure
83%
96%
New measure
100%
94%

12

13

14

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Ship registration transactions
Certificates issued for Seafarers, SSM/SOP vessels
Exemptions from rule requirements processed
12

Flag state inspections completed
Port state inspections 13 completed
Safety inspections undertaken
Education/liaison visits to SOP operators
Fit and proper person assessments undertaken
Statutory notifications received by Maritime New
Zealand regarding accidents, incidents and mishaps
Operational complaints received
Harbour safety management system verification
audits completed
Quality
Flag state vessel inspections completed according to
agreed targeting criteria
Eligible port state vessel inspections completed
according to the Tokyo MoU targeting criteria
Safety inspections that meet ‘pass’ criteria
SOP Vessel audits carried out within statutory
timeframe
Certificates reissued due to inaccuracy
Notified maritime commercial fatalities investigated
Notified maritime recreational fatalities investigated

Target
2010/11

430
2,763
232

600–800
2,900–3,100
240

13
554
807
78

15
500–700
750
80–90
2,600–2,800

14

835
598

350–500

67
5

70-90
2

93%

100%

95%

80%

81%
100%

90%
100%

2%
100%
100%

1%
100%
92%

Inspection of New Zealand-registered ships to verify that the condition of the ship, equipment and safety
systems meet New Zealand’s legal requirements.
Inspection of foreign ships in New Zealand ports to verify that the condition of the ship and equipment
complies with the requirements of international conventions.
Figures reported relate to fit and proper person assessments for vessel operators only. Seafarers fit and
proper assessments, which are included in the 2010/11 target, could not be extracted for reporting purposes.
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Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

Actual
2010/11

93%

Timeliness
Certificates issued and transactions registered within
10 working days of receipt of required documentation
Certification enquires responded to in 10 working days

New Measure

Exemption requests processed within 20 working days

100%

100%

Mandatory audits completed as per audit schedule

Target
2010/11

89%

100%

92%

100%

75%

100%

100%

100%

95%

Safety inspections carried out within timelines
specified in the issued certificate

72%

100%

90%

Statutory notifications received, logged, reviewed and
assessed within two weeks of notification

95%

92%

100%

Enforcement files processed within six months of the
date of the incident

100%

100%

97%

Operational complaints dealt with within three months

45%

100%

50%

Harbour safety management system verification
audits completed within three months of due date

80%

100%

$10,920,000
$13,135,000
($2,215,000)

$10,257,000
$9,983,000
$274,000

$11,336,000
$11,244,000
$92,000

Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Quantity measures
Demand measures such as ship registration transactions and the issue of certificates for seafarers
and vessels can vary significantly from year to year and are outside the direct control of Maritime New
Zealand. Target ranges provided for these performance measures are indicative of expected demand
forecasted 18 months before the end of the 2010/11 year.
Flag State inspections are undertaken annually for all 16 New Zealand registered vessels. Three
vessels, however, were not inspected in 2010/11: the Aratere in Singapore for a refit; Jaguar, laid up
and no longer operating; and Milburn Carrier, operating schedules did not permit inspection before the
close of the 2010/11 year.
Fit and proper person assessments are undertaken for both vessel operators and seafarers. At the
time of developing this new measure for the 2010/11 year it was anticipated that data could be
collected for both, however extracting information on the number of seafarer fit and proper person
assessments was not easily attainable. Figures reported relate only to fit and proper person
assessments for vessel operators.

Quality measures
It was disappointing to note that only 81 percent of vessels passed by safe ship management
companies actually met Maritime New Zealand’s pass requirements. This result reflected the higher
standard of vessel compliance expected by Maritime New Zealand and a poor standard of inspections
undertaken by some external surveyors. Maritime New Zealand is addressing this by replacing the
current Safe Ship Management system with one that will ensure surveyors are responsible and
accountable for the issue of fit-for-purpose certificates for vessels.
Twice as many certificates had to be reissued compared with the 2010/11 target. The numbers are still
very small (2 percent of total). Most of the reissues were due to errors made by safe ship management
companies in documentation supplied to support the issue of the certificate. Maritime New Zealand is
working with these companies to raise the bar in certificate issuing requirements
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Timeliness measures
During the 2010/11 year Maritime New Zealand operated with insufficient staff resources, due to a
number of vacancies in the maritime field operations area. This meant that some business-as-usual
activities were not completed in a timely manner. By year end, good progress had been made to
recruit a number of replacement staff; however it was too late to materially affect the year-to-date
performance targets.

Output 1.4: Maritime security
Key functions:
x

to ensure effective implementation of the International Code for the Security of Ships and of Port
Facilities in accordance with the Maritime Security Act

x

to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the
Maritime Security Act and of regulations and rules made under this Act, including carrying out
inspections and audits

x

to investigate and review maritime security breaches and incidents.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

14
New measure
100%

N/A

N/A

$1,276,000
$921,000
$355,000

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Port security inspections per annum
Maritime Incident Response exercises held per annum
Quality
Port security exercise objectives that align with
security plans, as stipulated in the Maritime Security
Act
Potential threats to New Zealand port facilities that
are advised in time for appropriate action to be taken
Timeliness
Responses made within one hour of receiving specific
intelligence concerning terrorist threats for New
Zealand ports and ships
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

52

Target
2010/11
13

14

2

2

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

$1,224,000
$1,500,000
($276,000)

$1,179,000
$1,343,000
($164,000)

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

Output 1.5: Maritime distress and safety radio, and navigational aids
Key function:
x

to ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication systems and
navigational aids for shipping.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

Actual
2010/11

Target
2010/11

Quantity
141
1
99.9%
99.9%
100%
99.9%
100%

Maritime New Zealand navigational aids maintained

140

142

15

3

99.9%
99.9%
100%
99.9%
100%

99.8%
97%
97%
99.8%
100%

Regional navigational aid audits

0

Quality
Time that lighthouses are operational
Time that day-beacons are operational
Time that buoys are operational
Time that radio stations are operational
A 24/7 distress/safety radio service is provided
Timeliness

33%
$7,068,000
$5,395,000
$1,673,000

Planned regional navigational aid audits completed
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

100%

100%

$5,125,000
$6,013,000
($888,000)

$4,851,000
$5,385,000
($534,000)

Output 1.6: Health and safety on board vessels
Key functions:
x

to administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 for work on board ships and for
ships as places of work

x

to take appropriate action as required in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the Act
and regulations and rules made under this Act, including carrying out or requiring inspections and
audits.
Actual
2009/10
180
New measure
73

Performance measure

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Health and safety education visits to SSM operators
Number of warranted inspectors (HSE and HSNO Acts)
Statutory notifications received regarding serious harm

Target
2010/11
103
17
84

150
20
75-85

N/A

90%

N/A

90%

$400,000
$800,000
($400,000)

$400,000
$800,000
($400,000)

Quality
New measure

New measure
$400,000
$800,000
($400,000)

15

Inspected operators that have safety
programmes, processes and systems in
accordance with requirements
Timeliness
Health and safety action plan milestones that have
been achieved in accordance with agreed timelines
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

No regional navigational aid audits undertaken as they are now covered as part of harbour safety management
systems audits.
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Quality and timeliness measures were introduced for the first time in the 2010/11 year. However
progress on the implementation of the health and safety strategy took longer to achieve than originally
expected, so reporting on these measures was not possible.
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Output class 2: Marine environment protection
Through this output class, Maritime New Zealand delivers marine environment protection services that
contribute directly towards Maritime New Zealand’s outcomes of safe, secure and clean seas. This
output class also contributes to the sector outcomes of promoting a maritime community that is
reducing its negative impacts on the environment.
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
x

2.1: Marine pollution response capability 16

x

2.2: Marine environment services.

Output 2.1: Marine pollution response capability
Key function:
x

to ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil spills.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

100%
95%
12
15
Green
100%

100%
100%
$3,385,000
$4,575,000
($1,190,000)

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
17
Equipment (Tier 2) ready for response
Equipment (Tier 3) 18 ready for response
Training courses conducted

100%
100%
8

92%
92%
6

9

16

Green
96%

Green
90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

$3,340,000
$4,285,000
($945,000)

$3,231,000
$4,528,000
($1,297,000)

Regional council plans that are current
Quality
Status of the Oil Spill Preparedness Index 19
Attendees on oil pollution training courses who were
satisfied or very satisfied with their oil pollution
response training
Timeliness
Time that a 24/7 advice and response capability
service is provided
Responses to Tier 2 and Tier 3 spills activated within
two hours of notification to Maritime New Zealand
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Target
2010/11

A further six regional marine oil spill contingency plans were received from regional councils and
assessed by Maritime New Zealand but required alterations to meet approval criteria. These plans
were not finalised by 30 June 2011.

16

This output is delivered by the Marine Pollution Response Service based in Te Atatu.

17

Responsibility for a Tier 2 response lies with regional councils within their part of the territorial sea
(12 nautical miles), where the oil spill exceeds the capability of the party originally responsible for the spill
(Tier 1), or for which no responsible party can be identified.
Responsibility lies with Maritime New Zealand for managing spills that are beyond the resources of the
region, or that occur within New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone (200 nautical mile limit) but outside
regional council boundaries.
This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil
spills are at the optimum level specified in the national strategy. Behind the index sits a checklist that is used
to objectively assess the level of preparedness: green (able to respond), amber (able to respond in most
circumstances) and red (not able to respond). The grounding of the container vessel Rena off the Tauranga
coast in October 2011 occurred outside the reporting period; however if it had occurred during the reporting
period it is unlikely to have affected this result. A subsequent inquiry into the grounding is likely to include an
evaluation of the effectiveness of this index.

18

19
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Output 2.2: Marine environment services
Key functions:
x

to provide technical policy advice and analysis on marine environment protection where Maritime
New Zealand has defined statutory responsibility

x

to develop and maintain marine protection rules

x

to exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the granting of marine
protection documents.
Actual
2009/10

Performance measure

5
19

11

$230,000
$230,000
–

20

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Applications processed for dumping waste at sea
Harmful substance (other than oil) evaluations carried
out as part of Maritime New Zealand’s discharge
management plan approval process 20
Papers submitted to the International Maritime
Organization Marine Environment Protection
Committee (and related subcommittees and technical
groups)
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Target
2010/11
7
48

5-7
10

3

4

$240,000
$230,000
$10,000

$240,000
$230,000
$10,000

These numbers are driven by applications from offshore operators to use eco-toxic chemicals not approved in
their original discharge management plans.
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Output class 3: Search and rescue activities
Through this output class, Maritime New Zealand delivers coordination of search and rescue
operations within the internationally mandated New Zealand Search and Rescue Region. 21 Services
include the operation and maintenance of the 24/7 Rescue Coordination Centre of New Zealand,
funding of search and rescue operations, the management and coordination of the emergency distress
beacon system for New Zealand, and work to ensure the effective coordination and performance of
search and rescue operations across the search and rescue sector in New Zealand.
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
x

3.1: Search and rescue coordination

x

3.2: Distress beacon management and coordination

x

3.3: Training and coordination of SAR operations.

Output 3.1: Search and rescue coordination centre
Key functions:
x

to operate a 24/7 search and rescue coordination centre

x

to provide an immediate response to all notified distress alerts within the New Zealand Search
and Rescue Region, gathering and evaluating information, then planning and executing
appropriate search and rescue operations

x

to coordinate activities covering sea, air and land operations managed at the national level, as
well as activities and operations related to emergency distress beacons. 22
Actual
2009/10
690
0

100%
New measure

100%
100%
100%

$3,174,000
$3,547,000
($373,000)

21

22

Performance measure

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
Logged incidents
Service level agreements developed with key
stakeholders in the search and rescue community
Quality
Time that a minimum of two fully trained search and
rescue officers are on duty 24/7
Percentage of attendees on Air Observers Courses
and Air Observers Refresher Courses that provide
positive feedback on the course
Timeliness
Time that a 24/7 uninterrupted coordination service is
provided
Search and rescue incidents logged within two
minutes of receiving a notification message
Category II SAR incidents where identification of the
search and rescue units required is begun within five
minutes of a distress phase being declared
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Target
2010/11
737
2

500-750
5-10

100%

100%

95%

70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

$3,433,000
$4,044,000
($611,000)

$3,195,000
$3,726,000
($531,000)

An area of more than 30 million square kilometres, which extends from the Pacific Islands to Antarctica,
halfway to Australia and halfway to Chile
Search and rescue operations are defined by the level of coordination – local (Category I) or national
(Category II). The New Zealand Police coordinates and manages Category I search and rescue operations;
RCCNZ coordinates and manages Category II search and rescue operations.

57

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

2010/11 was a busy year, with approximately 50 more logged incidents than the previous year. Activity
has ranged across the sea, air and land environments, and from the Pacific to the Antarctic. Overall
there has been more actual tasking of assets to respond to incidents than in previous years. Four-year
trends show slight declines in sea and air incidents and a rise in the number of land incidents,
reflecting the increased awareness and use of distress beacons on land. There continues to be a wide
variety of incidents, although common themes – such as poor preparation, lack of suitable equipment
and the influence of the weather – continue to be seen in all three environments.

Output 3.2: Distress beacon management and coordination
Key function:
x

Operation and maintenance of the ground-based equipment that forms part of the international
satellite system that detects, locates and alerts search and rescue authorities about emergency
distress beacons, and the operation and maintenance of the emergency distress beacons
database. 23
Actual
2009/10
333
99.7%

Performance measure

Actual
2010/11

Quantity
406MHz beacon alerts received
Time that the ground-based satellite equipment is
available
406MHz distress beacon alerts received by the
Rescue Co-ordination Centre where the beacon is
registered

Target
2010/11

431
99.7%

300–500
98%

70%

70%

66%

Quality
Beacons entered into New Zealand database where
entry has been audited (confirmed) within the
previous two years (at 30 June)

49%

55%

99%

Timeliness
Beacon registrations received at the Rescue
Coordination Centre and processed into database by
the end of the next working day

94%

98%

$943,000
$900,000
$43,000

$911,000
$905,000
$6,000

71%

$793,000
$793,000
–

Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

The use of distress beacons in all three environments (sea, air and land) continues to grow, with the
total number of alerts almost 100 higher than the previous year. Registration continues to prove itself
as both a life- and cost-saving capability.
Registrations for the year dropped compared with last year, falling to a rate of approximately 300–350
per month (although with significant variation across the year). Personal Locator Beacons – used
mainly in the land environment, as well as in the recreational marine environment – form the majority
of the new registrations (typically 60 percent). There are now 30,900 beacons registered to the New
Zealand Database; managing and auditing these records is a significant undertaking for the Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand.
The quality measure for beacons entered into the New Zealand database where entry has been
audited (confirmed) within the previous two years (at 30 June) has fallen below the target because of
the large block of registrations completed two years ago coming up for their audit check. RCCNZ was
not resourced to deal with this peak loading, although the risk of incorrect data is assessed as low
since these registrations are relatively new.

23

Beacons operating on the 406MHz frequency. They contain unique identification codes allowing users to
register information against the beacon, such as contact details of the user and emergency contacts.
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Statement of responsibility for Maritime New Zealand
The financial statements and statement of service performance of Maritime New Zealand and the
judgements used are the responsibility of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand
management, and have been prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.
The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011
is the responsibility of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand management.
In the opinion of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand management, financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Maritime New
Zealand.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Dated: 15 November 2011

Dave Morgan
Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Dated: 15 November 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of
Maritime New Zealand’s
financial statements and statement of service performance
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The Auditor-General has
appointed me, John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the
audit of the financial statements and statement of service performance of Maritime NZ on her behalf.
We have audited:

x

the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 64 to 94, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and notes to the
financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information, and

x

the statement of service performance of Maritime NZ on pages 47 to 58.

Opinion
In our opinion:

x

the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 64 to 94:
{

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

{

fairly reflect Maritime NZ’s:

x

x

financial position as at 30 June 2011; and

x

financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

the statement of service performance of Maritime NZ on pages 47 to 58:
{

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

{

fairly reflects, for each class of outputs for the year ended 30 June 2011, Maritime NZ’s
x

service performance compared with the forecasts in the statement of forecast
service performance for the financial year; and

x

actual revenue and output expenses compared with the forecasts in the statement
of forecast service performance at the start of the financial year.

Our audit was completed on 15 November 2011. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Authority
and our responsibilities, and we explain our independence.

61

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11
Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements and statement of service performance are free from material
misstatement.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a
reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and statement of service performance. If we
had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our
opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements and statement of service performance. The procedures selected depend on
our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements
and statement of service performance, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to Maritime NZ’s preparation of the financial
statements and statement of service performance that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate.
We consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Maritime
NZ’s internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:

x

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently
applied;

x

the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the
Authority;

x

the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and statement of service
performance; and

x

the overall presentation of the financial statements and statement of service performance.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial
statements and statement of service performance. We have obtained all the information and
explanations we have required and we believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement of service performance
that:

x

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

x

fairly reflect Maritime NZ’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; and

x

fairly reflect its service performance.

The Authority is also responsible for such internal control as is determined necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements and a statement of service performance that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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The Authority’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004.
Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and statement
of service performance and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.
Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General,
which incorporate the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Crown entity.

John O’Connell
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial
statements and statement of service performance
This audit report relates to the financial statements and statement of service performance of
the Maritime New Zealand for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on Maritime New
Zealand’s website. Maritime New Zealand’s board is responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the
integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes
that may have occurred to the financial statements and statement of service performance since
they were initially presented on the website.
The audit report refers only to the financial statements and statement of service performance
named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been
hyperlinked to or from the financial statements and statement of service performance. If
readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data
communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial statements
and statement of service performance and related audit report dated 15 November 2011 to
confirm the information included in the audited financial statements and statement of service
performance presented on this website.
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of comprehensive income for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Income
Revenue from Crown
Marine Safety Charge revenue
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gains

Actual
2011
$000
2

3
4

Total income
Expenditure
Personnel costs
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Capital charge
Finance costs
Other expenses

5
14, 15
6
7
8

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

9,577
15,586
358
4,247
14

9,577
15,070
353
3,949
-

10,247
16,936
295
2,710
43

29,782

28,949

30,231

15,997
1,871
865
8
14,187

14,804
1,822
886
–
13,183

14,164
1,737
847
4
12,022

Total expenditure

32,928

30,695

28,774

Net surplus/(deficit)

(3,146)

(1,746)

1,457

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income
Gains/(losses) on land and building revaluation
Total other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

(3,146)

(1,746)

1,457

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 30.

Statement of movements in equity for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Balance at 1 July
Amounts recognised directly in equity:
Property, plant and equipment revaluation
gains/(losses) taken to equity
Total comprehensive income for the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

18,232

17,696

16,108

19

–

–

(83)

19

(3,146)
167

(1,746)
270

1,457
750

15,253

16,220

18,232

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position for Maritime New Zealand
At 30 June 2011
Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Prepayments
Inventories
Investments

9
10
11
12

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

14
15

Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables
Employee entitlements
Provisions

16
17
18

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

18

Total non-current liabilities

Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

2,224
2,332
421
264
4,971

8,215
2,005
396
267
–

4,328
2,179
324
241
5,448

10,212

10,883

12,520

4,846
4,481

4,742
4,707

5,182
4,240

9,327

9,449

9,422

19,539

20,332

21,942

3,365
801
-

2,796
1,316
–

2,800
798
3

4,166

4,112

3,601

120

–

109

120

–

109

4,286

4,112

3,710

15,253

16,220

18,232

13,522
1,166
565

13,625
2,030
565

13,355
4,312
565

Total equity

15,253

16,220

18,232

Total equity and liabilities

19,539

20,332

21,942

Total liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Crown contribution
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

19
19
19

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Actual
2011
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from Crown revenue
Interest received
Fees funding
Receipts from other revenue
Payments to suppliers
Payments for capital charge
Payments to employees
Goods and services tax (net)
Net cash from operating activities

20

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

9,577
350
16,004
3,167
(14,042)
(866)
(15,093)
(75)

11,693
353
16,902
–
(13,181)
(886)
(14,804)
–

10,247
285
17,367
1,664
(12,555)
(847)
(13,709)
27

(978)

77

2,479

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Receipts from sale of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisitions of investments

14

–

50

5,401
(823)
(980)
(4,905)

–
(538)
(1,249)
–

3,532
(500)
(1,461)
(5,401)

Net cash from investing activities

(1,293)

(1,787)

(3,780)

167

270

750

167

270

750

(2,104)

(1,440)

(551)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution

19

Net cash from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

9

4,328

9,655

4,929

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

9

2,224

8,215

4,328

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and
Services Tax paid and received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component
has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for
financial statement purposes.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for Maritime New Zealand
Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June
2011
Reporting entity
Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled in
New Zealand. As such, Maritime New Zealand’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
Maritime New Zealand’s primary objective is to provide services to the New Zealand public as
opposed to that of making a financial return. Accordingly, Maritime New Zealand has designated itself
as a public benefit entity for the purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards.
These financial statements for Maritime New Zealand are for the year ended 30 June 2011 and were
approved by the Authority on 15 November 2011. (1)
(1) Before the container vessel Rena grounded on the Astrolabe Reef of Tauranga on 5 October 2011
the Authority was to give approval on 31 October. The approval date was extended as due to the
unavailability of Maritime New Zealand staff involved with the Rena grounding, Audit New Zealand
was unable to obtain all information and explanations to obtain reasonable assurance. This has
resulted in not complying with the Crown Entities Act 2004, section 156 (1) (a) that states a Crown
Entity must forward to the Auditor-General its annual financial statements, and any other information
that the Auditor-General has agreed, or is required, to audit within three months after the end of each
financial year.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime New Zealand have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with New
Zealand’s generally accepted accounting practice.
The financial statements comply with New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standards and
other applicable financial reporting standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis, except where modified by
the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of Maritime New Zealand is New Zealand
dollars.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the financial year.
Maritime New Zealand has adopted the following revision to accounting standards during the financial
year, which has only a presentational or disclosure effect:
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x

New Zealand International Accounting Standard 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised 2009) –
The effect of early adopting the revised New Zealand International Accounting Standard 24 is:
x

more information is required to be disclosed about transactions between Maritime New
Zealand and entities controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by the Crown

x

commitments with related parties require disclosure

x

information is required to be disclosed about any related party transactions with Ministers of
the Crown.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted, and which are relevant to Maritime New Zealand include:
x

x

New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures –
The effect of early adopting these amendments is that the following information is no longer
disclosed:
x

the carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose
terms have been renegotiated; and

x

the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial instrument if the maximum credit
risk exposure is best represented by their carrying amount.

New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments will eventually
replace 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. New Zealand International
Accounting Standard 39 is being replaced through the following three main phases: Phase 1
Classification and Measurement, Phase 2 Impairment Methodology, and Phase 3 Hedge
Accounting. Phase 1, on the classification and measurement of financial assets, has been
completed and has been published in the new financial instrument standard New Zealand
International Financial Reporting Standard 9. New Zealand International Financial Reporting
Standard 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at
amortised cost or fair value, replacing the many different rules in New Zealand International
Accounting Standard 39. The approach in New Zealand International Financial Reporting
Standard 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business model) and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a
single impairment method to be used, replacing the many different impairment methods in New
Zealand International Accounting Standard 39. The new standard is required to be adopted for
the year ended 30 June 2014. Maritime New Zealand has not yet assessed the effect of the new
standard and expects it will not be adopted early.

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Maritime New Zealand receives funding from the Crown, and is restricted in its use for the purpose of
Maritime New Zealand meeting its objectives, as specified in the Statement of Intent. Revenue from
the Crown is recognised as revenue when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it
relates.
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage
of completion at balance date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
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performed or for marine safety charges based on information from New Zealand Customs regarding
port visits.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the entity has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Capital charge
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the period to which the charge relates.

Leases
Leases that transfer to Maritime New Zealand substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, are classified as finance leases. At
the commencement of the lease term, Maritime New Zealand recognises finance leases as assets and
liabilities in the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the
present value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability.
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to
whether Maritime New Zealand will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
to Maritime New Zealand are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an operating
lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the lease
term as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Taxation
Maritime New Zealand is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the payment of income
tax. Accordingly no charge for income tax has been provided for. Maritime New Zealand is not exempt
from indirect tax legislation such as that relating to Good and Services Tax, Pay As You Earn or
Accident Compensation Corporation levies, and therefore is required to comply with these regulations.

Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on a Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with
the exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable, which are stated as Goods and Services
Tax inclusive. Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as
part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. The net Goods and
Services Tax paid to, or received from, the Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services Tax
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of
cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent, as approved by the Authority at the
beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with New
Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard, using accounting policies that are consistent with
those adopted by Maritime New Zealand for the preparation of the financial statements.
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Cost allocation
Maritime New Zealand has determined the cost of outputs by using the cost allocation system outlined
below.
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that can not
be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output. Direct costs are charged
directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and related
activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs
are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs are assigned to outputs, based
on the proportion of full-time equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, both domestic and
international, other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three -months or
less.

Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. Impairment of a
receivable is established when there is objective evidence that Maritime New Zealand will not be able
to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, and default in payments are
considered indicators that the debtor is impaired.
The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the receivable is
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue receivables that
have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not past due).

Investments
At each balance sheet date, Maritime New Zealand assesses whether there is any objective evidence
that an investment is impaired.

Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that Maritime New
Zealand will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the deposit.
Significant financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, and
default in payments are considered indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Inventory
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined on the weighted average cost method), adjusted
when applicable, for any loss of service potential. Where inventories are acquired at no cost or for
nominal consideration, the cost is the current replacement cost at the date of acquisition. This
valuation includes allowances for slow moving and obsolete stock.
The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period of the write-down.
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Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward exchange contracts are held) are
translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of:
x

lighthouses

x

navigational lights, buoys and day beacons

x

plant and equipment

x

motor vehicles

x

furniture, fittings and office equipment

x

computer equipment

x

leasehold improvements

x

land.

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued as at 30 June 2010 to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from fair value and is revalued at least every three years. Fair value is determined from
market-based evidence by an independent valuer. All other asset classes are carried at depreciated
historical cost.
The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those values
are not materially different to fair value. Additions between revaluations are recorded at cost.

Accounting for revaluations
Maritime New Zealand accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of assets
basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset.
Where this results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that off-sets a previous
decrease in value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income will be recognised first in the
statement of comprehensive income up to the amount previously expensed, and then credited to the
revaluation reserve for that class of asset.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to
Maritime New Zealand and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value when control
over the asset is obtained.
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Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of
the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement of comprehensive income.
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect of those
assets are transferred to general funds.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to Maritime New Zealand and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than land,
at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over
their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in the preparation of these
statements are as follows:
Asset type

Useful life
(years)

Depreciation
method

Lighthouses

10–40

straight-line

Navigational lights, buoys and day beacons

10–20

straight-line

5–10

straight-line

Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings and office equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial
year-end.

Intangible assets
Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software.
Costs directly associated with the development of software for internal use by Maritime New Zealand
are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software development, employee costs
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
x

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

x

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when
incurred.

x

Costs associated with the development and maintenance of Maritime New Zealand’s website are
recognised as an expense when incurred.

72

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date the asset is
derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been
estimated as follows:
Computer software type

Useful life
(years)

Acquired
Developed

Depreciation
method

3–5

straight-line

8

straight-line

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or
service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash
inflows and where Maritime New Zealand would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future
economic benefits or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets, the impairment loss is
recognised against the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a debit
balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation reserve.
However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but not yet taken
at balance date are measured at undiscounted nominal values, based on accrual entitlements at
current rates of pay.
Employee entitlements that Maritime New Zealand expects to be settled within 12 months of balance
date are measured at undiscounted nominal values, based on accrued entitlements at current rates of
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pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in accordance with the Holidays Act
2003.
Maritime New Zealand does not recognise a liability for sick leave, as staff have an unlimited
entitlement.
Maritime New Zealand recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually
obliged to pay them, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Superannuation schemes
Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower LifeSaver are accounted for as defined
contribution superannuation schemes and are recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred.
Obligations for contributions to Government Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined
benefit superannuation scheme and are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive
income as incurred.

Provisions
Maritime New Zealand recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing
when there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is
probable that expenditure will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time, value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as a finance cost.

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when Maritime New Zealand has approved a detailed
formal plan for the restructuring that has either been announced publicly to those affected, or for which
implementation has already commenced.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, Maritime New Zealand has made estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual
results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets’ useful lives and residual value
At each balance date, Maritime New Zealand reviews the useful lives and residual values of its
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and
residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets requires Maritime
New Zealand to consider a number of factors, such as the physical condition of the asset, expected
period of use of the asset by Maritime New Zealand, and expected disposal proceeds from the future
sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact the depreciation/amortisation
expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and on the carrying amount of the
asset in the statement of financial position. Maritime New Zealand minimises the risk of this estimation
uncertainty by:
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x

physical inspections of assets

x

asset replacement programmes

x

review of second-hand market prices for similar assets

x

analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime New Zealand has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives
and residual values.

Critical judgements
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements.

Capital commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that relate to unperformed goods or
services that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments. Commitments
disclosed include those operating and capital commitments arising from non-cancellable contractual or
statutory obligations.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent
assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in bank accounts and demand deposits in
which Maritime New Zealand invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.
Operating activities include cash received from all income sources and records the cash payments
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest and capital charge.
Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets,
intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and debt capital structure of Maritime New Zealand.

Terminology
Output class income and expenditure prior year financial information is reclassified to align with the
Statement of Intent. The reclassification is made to provide information that is relevant to the
understanding of the financial statements and has no impact on the net surplus/deficit.

Note 2: Revenue from the Crown
Maritime New Zealand has been provided with funding from the Crown for specific purposes of
Maritime New Zealand, as set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government
appropriations. Apart from these general restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to government funding (2010: nil).
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Note 3: Other revenue
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Seafarer licensing

541

569

Ship registration

116

121

User charges

209

132

3

31

447

291

690

845

2,032

710

209

11

4,247

2,710

Bad debts recovered
Other income

Oil pollution recovery:
Oil pollution recovery

Funding from Crown agencies:
Ministry of Transport
NZ International Aid and Development Agency
Total other revenue

Note 4: Gains
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Gain on foreign exchange

-

(1)

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

14

44

Total gains

14

43

Note 5: Personnel costs

Personnel and related costs
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 17)
Total personnel costs

Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

15,455

13,646

539

481

3

37

15,997

14,164

Employee contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the
Government Superannuation Fund and Tower LifeSaver.

Note 6: Capital charge
Maritime New Zealand pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers' funds at 30 June and 31
December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2011 was 7.5% (2010:
7.5%).
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Note 7: Finance costs
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 18)

8

4

Total finance costs

8

4

Note 8: Other expenses
Actual
2011
$000
Administration

Actual
2010
$000

1,014

977

119

123

36

47

-

13

71

69

-

(2)

64

-

Authority members’ fees (Note 24)
Bad debts written off
Donations
Fee to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit
Impairment of receivables (Note 10)
Foreign currency loss (Note 28)
Maintenance

1,184

971

Marketing and public relations

1,703

1,007

Operating

1,305

1,232

Operating lease expenses

1,067

989

Professional and safety services

5,853

5,091

739

533

1,002

959

30

13

14,187

12,022

Search and rescue variable costs
Travel
Website development expense
Total other expenses

Note 9: Cash and cash equivalents
Actual
2011
$000
Cash on hand and at bank

Actual
2010
$000

21

89

Cash equivalents – term deposits

2,203

4,239

Total cash and cash equivalents

2,224

4,328

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates
their fair value. The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term deposits is 3.27% (2010:
3.4%).
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Note 10: Debtors and other receivables
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Debtors and other receivables

1,994

1,721

Less: provision for impairment

–

(2)

1,994

1,719

338

460

–

–

2,332

2,179

Net trade debtors
Other accounts receivable
Goods and Services Tax refundable
Total debtors and other receivables

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2011 and 2010, all
overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as
detailed below:
2011
Gross
$000

2010

Impairment

Net

$000

$000

Gross

Impairment

$000

$000

Net
$000

Not past due

902

–

902

40

–

40

Past due 1–30 days

955

–

955

55

–

55

Past due 31–60 days

93

–

93

1,269

–

1,269

Past due 61–90 days

35

–

35

303

(2)

301

9

–

9

54

–

54

1,994

–

1,994

1,721

(2)

1,719

Past due > 90 days
Total

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for Maritime New
Zealand's pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of Maritime New Zealand's
losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors. Those specific debtors that are insolvent
are fully provided for. As at 30 June 2011, Maritime New Zealand has identified no debtors (2010: 2)
totalling $0 (2010: $11,087.44) that are insolvent.
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Balance at 1 July

2

4

Additional provisions made during the year (Note 8)

–

(2)

(2)

–

–

2

Receivables written off during the period
Balance at 30 June
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Note 11: Inventories
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Spare parts

264

241

Total inventories

264

241

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $nil (2010: $nil). There have been no
reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

Note 12: Investments
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Current investments are represented by:
Term deposits

4,971

5,448

Total current portion

4,971

5,448

Total investments

4,971

5,448

There were no impairment provisions for investments.
Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits

Term deposits with 4–6 month maturities (average maturity 155 days)
Weighted average effective interest rate

Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

4,971

5,448

4.49%

4.59%

The carrying amount of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximates their fair
value.
Term deposits are invested at fixed rates ranging from 3.70% to 5.35%. As these deposits are at a
fixed interest rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease in interest rates during
the period would not impact on the measurement of the investments, and therefore there would be no
impact on the surplus or equity.

Note 13: Derivative financial instruments
The notional principal amount of outstanding forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2011 was
$336,000 (2010: $nil). The fair value of forward exchange contracts has been determined using a
discounted cash flow valuation technique based on quoted market rates. The fair value at 30 June
2011 was a liability of $64,338.

79

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

Note 14: Property, plant and equipment
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Lighthouses

Buoys, day
beacons,
navigational
lights

Plant &
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Furniture,
fittings
& office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Leasehold
improvement

Land

Work in
progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Cost or valuation
Balance 1 July 2009

1,770

2,201

9,262

763

1,421

2,003

1,625

648

204

59

46

76

–

29

222

3

–

–

435

Work in progress (WIP)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

119

119

Revaluation increase

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(83)

–

(83)

Transfer from WIP

–

–

204

–

–

–

–

–

(204)

–

Disposals

–

–

–

(88)

–

(54)

–

–

–

(142)

Balance 30 June 2010

1,829

2,247

9,542

675

1,450

2,171

1,628

565

119

20,226

Balance 1 July 2010

1,829

2,247

9,542

675

1,450

2,171

1,628

565

119

20,226

75

10

118

78

231

222

90

–

–

824

Work in progress

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

44

44

Revaluation increase

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Transfer from WIP

–

–

86

–

–

33

–

–

(119)

–

Disposals

–

–

–

(61)

–

(71)

–

–

–

(132)

1,904

2,257

9,746

692

1,681

2,355

1,718

565

44

20,962

Additions

Additions

Balance 30 June 2011

19,897

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance 1 July 2009

762

1,759

7,761

503

1,000

1,528

644

–

–

13,867

Depreciation expenses

63

44

441

127

148

339

151

–

–

1,313

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

(84)

–

(52)

–

–

–

(136)

Elimination on
revaluation

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Balance 30 June 2010

825

1,803

8,112

546

1,148

1,815

795

–

–

15,044

Balance 1 July 2010

825

1,803

8,112

546

1,148

1,815

795

–

–

15,044

Depreciation expenses

68

46

368

92

162

239

157

–

–

1,132

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

(60)

–

–

–

–

–

(60)

Elimination on
revaluation

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses
Balance 30 June 2011

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

893

1,849

8,480

578

1,310

2,054

952

–

–

16,116

Carrying amounts
At 30 June 2010

1,004

444

1,430

129

302

356

833

565

119

5,182

At 30 June 2011

1,011

408

1,266

114

371

301

766

565

44

4,846

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime New
Zealand in 1993 has been revalued by an independent registered valuer, Graeme Horsley Limited, on
19 June 2010. The total fair value of land valued by Graeme Horsley Limited amounted to $565,000.
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is $nil (2010:
$nil).
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Note 15: Intangible assets
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
Acquired
software

Internally
generated
software
$000

Work in
progress

Total

$000

$000

2,966

339

1,699

5,004

101

1,141

219

1,461

Transfer from work in progress

–

1,699

(1,699)

–

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

3,067

3,179

219

6,465

Balance at 1 July 2010

3,067

3,179

219

6,465

300

490

190

980

Transfer from work in progress

–

219

(219)

–

Disposals

–

–

–

–

3,367

3,888

190

7,445

Balance at 1 July 2009

1,763

38

–

1,801

Amortisation expenses

23

401

–

424

$000
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2009
Additions

Additions

Balance at 30 June 2011
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

1,786

439

–

2,225

Balance at 1 July 2010

1,786

439

–

2,225

Amortisation expenses

334

405

–

739

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

2,120

844

–

2,964

At 30 June 2010

1,281

2,740

219

4,240

At 30 June 2011

1,247

3,044

190

4,481

Balance at 30 June 2011
Carrying amounts

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime New Zealand's intangible assets, and no intangible
assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 16: Creditors and other payables
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Trade creditors

622

823

Goods and Services Tax payable

136

62

1,949

1,557

Accrued salary and wages

530

358

Revenue in advance

128

–

3,365

2,800

Accrued expenses

Total creditors and other payables

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms;
therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates the fair value.

Note 17: Employee entitlements
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Current annual leave

801

798

Total employee entitlements

801

798

Note 18: Provisions
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Current provisions are represented by:
Restructuring

–

–

Lease make-good

–

3

Total current portion

–

3

–

–

Lease make-good

120

109

Total non-current portion

120

109

Total provisions

120

112

Non-current provisions are represented by:
Restructuring
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
Restructuring
$000
Balance at 1 July 2009

Lease
make-good
$000

95

108

–

–

(95)

–

Amounts reversed

–

–

Discount unwind (Note 7)

–

4

Balance at 30 June 2010

–

112

Balance at 1 July 2010

–

112

Additional provisions made

–

–

Amounts used

–

–

Amounts reversed

–

–

Discount unwind (Note 7)

–

8

Balance at 30 June 2011

–

120

Additional provisions made
Amounts used

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime New Zealand is required at the expiry of the lease term to
make good any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any
fixtures or fittings installed by Maritime New Zealand. In many cases, Maritime New Zealand has the
option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good
the premises. Information about Maritime New Zealand's leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note
21.

Note 19: Equity
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

General funds
Balance at 1 July as previously reported

17,667

15,460

Restated balance

17,667

15,460

Surplus/(deficit)

(3,146)

1,457

167

750

14,688

17,667

565

648

-

(83)

565

565

15,253

18,232

Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June
Revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 July
Revaluations
Balance at 30 June
Total equity at 30 June

The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2011 consists of land $565,000 (2010: land
$565,000).
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Note 20: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from
operating activities
Actual
2011
$000
Net surplus/(deficit)

Actual
2010
$000

(3,146)

1,457

1,871

1,737

–

1

1,871

1,738

(Increase)/decrease in fixed asset accruals

–

–

Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets

–

(44)

Total items classified as investing/financing activities

–

(44)

(23)

26

(153)

(492)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions

570

(278)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments

(97)

72

Add/(less) non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss
Total non-cash items
Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities

Add/(less) movements in working capital items
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in debtors and other receivables

Net movements in working capital items
Net cash from operating activities

297

(672)

(978)

2,479

Note 21: Capital commitments and operating leases
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment

-

85

Intangible assets

-

15

Total capital commitments

-

100

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable and operating leases:
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Not later than 1 year

1,079

935

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

3,706

3,446

333

543

5,118

4,924

Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases
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Maritime New Zealand leases 16 properties, with terms as follows:
Office location

Lease
start
date

Lease
renewal
date

Lease
expiry
date

Auckland District Office, Level 1, 2A Augustus Tce,
Parnell

1 Sep 10

1 Sep 13

31 Aug 16

Lyttleton, 265A High Street, Rangiora

1 Mar 11

1 Mar 12

1 Mar 18

72 Gore St, Bluff

1 Dec 09

28 Nov 11

28 Nov 14

Level 1, Shipping House, 38 Graham St, Port Nelson,
Nelson

1 May 06

1 May 12

30 Apr 16

Mariners Mall, High St, Picton

21 Oct 08

20 Oct 11

20 Oct 17

Level 1, Shipping Services Building, Norwich Quay,
Lyttelton

1 May 06

1 May 12

30 Apr 16

1 Jul 95

None

3 months notice

Level 9, Lumley House, Wellington

1 Feb 11

9 Mar 16

8 Mar 19

Suite 3, Nikau House, Nikau Cres, Mount Maunganui

1 Apr 03

30 Mar 12

30 Mar 12

1 Birch St, Dunedin

1 Dec 09

None

1 month’s notice

NZWTA Building, Cnr Lever & Bridge Sts, Aruhuri,
Napier

1 Jan 10

1 Jul 13

30 Jun 16

1 Jul 10

None

6 months notice

9 Mar 07

9 Mar 13

07 Mar 16

Wellington (MOC), Level 3, Avalon TV Studios, Percy
Cameron St, Avalon

1 Jul 94

30 Jun 14

30 Jun 14

Wellington (DAT), Level 6, Avalon TV Studios, Percy
Cameron St, Avalon

1 Apr 05

30 Mar 14

30 Mar 14

Wellington (Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand),
Avalon TV Studios, Percy Cameron St, Avalon

1 Apr 04

30 Mar 14

30 Mar 14

Hutchen Pl, Port Taranaki, New Plymouth

Portacom A1, Ralph Trimmer Dr, Marsden Point
Wellington Head Office, 1 Grey St, Wellington

A significant portion of the total non-cancellable operating lease expense relates to the lease of two
floors of an office building for the head office in Grey Street, Wellington. The lease expires in March
2016, with an option to vacate the premises at the lease renewal date of March 2013. Maritime New
Zealand has assumed it will not vacate the premises at the lease renewal date of March 2013.
Maritime New Zealand does not have the option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term.
Maritime New Zealand has recognised a make-good provision of $120,000 (2010: $112,000) in
respect of these leases (refer Note 18).

Note 22: Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Maritime New Zealand has no contingent liabilities (2010: $50,000).
Contingent assets
Maritime New Zealand has no contingent assets (2010: $Nil).
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Note 23: Related party transactions
Related party transactions
Maritime New Zealand is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences
the role of Maritime New Zealand, in addition to being a major source of its revenue. Maritime New
Zealand enters into all related party transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Significant transaction with government-related entities
Maritime New Zealand has been provided with funding from the Crown of $9,577,000 (2010
$10,247,000) for specific purposes as set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant
government appropriation.
Collectively, but not individually, significant, transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, Maritime New Zealand is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as
Goods and Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn Tax, and Accident Compensation
Corporation levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment of these taxes and
levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and
levy payers. Maritime New Zealand is exempt from paying income tax.
Maritime New Zealand also purchases goods and service from entities controlled, significantly
influenced, or jointly controlled by the Crown. Purchases from these government-related entities for
the year ended 30 June 2011 totalled $196,000 (2010: $141,000). These purchases included the
purchase of electricity from Meridian Energy, air travel from Air New Zealand and postal services from
New Zealand Post.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The
aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:
Transaction

Ref

Transaction value
Year ending 30 June
2011
$000

2010
$000

Balance outstanding
Year ending 30 June
2011
$000

2010
$000

Maritime New Zealand – provision of services to
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

1

330

845

17

154

Ex-Chairman – provision of services to Tower
Limited (superannuation payments)

2

–

7

–

–

Director – Catherine Taylor – Life Flight Trust

3

112

55

–

–

1.

Maritime New Zealand is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and
in doing so incurs costs directly. These costs are recovered from the fund.

2.

The Chairman (Ex) is a director of Tower Limited. Tower Employee Benefits Limited, a subsidiary
of Tower Limited, has been contracted to administer the Maritime New Zealand employee
superannuation scheme. This service was supplied on normal terms and conditions.

3.

The Chief Executive and Director of Maritime New Zealand is a Trustee of Life Flight Trust.
Maritime New Zealand pays Life Flight Trust for provision of search services.
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No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from
related parties (2010: $nil).
Key management personnel compensation
Actual
2011
$000
Salaries and other short-term benefits

Actual
2010
$000

1,571

Employer contributions to superannuation schemes

92

76

–

42

1,663

1,681

Termination benefits
Total key management personnel compensation

1,563

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the Chief Executive, and the remaining
seven members of the Executive Team.

Note 24: Authority member remuneration
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows:
Actual
2011
$000
David Ledson (Chairman)

Actual
2010
$000

39

16

–

23

David Morgan (Deputy Chairman)

24

24

Ken Gilligan

20

20

Adrienne Young Cooper

14

20

2

–

20

20

119

123

Susie Staley (Ex-Chairman)

Peter Cowper
Michael Ludbrook
Total Authority member remuneration

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not
Authority members, during the financial year.
Maritime New Zealand has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken
in the performance of Maritime New Zealand's functions.
Maritime New Zealand has effected directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity
insurance cover during the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and
employees.
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Note 25: Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable ($)

Actual
2011

Actual
2010

100,000–109,999

24

16

110,000–119,999

16

9

120,000–129,999

8

5

130,000–139,999

4

3

140,000–149,999

5

5

150,000–159,999

1

3

160,000–169,999

4

2

170,000–179,999

1

1

180,000–189,999

1

1

190,000–199,999

1

1

200,000–209,999

2

–

210,000–219,999

1

–

220,000–239,999

1

–

290,000–299,999

–

1

320,000–329,999

1

–

Total employees

70

47

During the year ending 30 June 2011, four (2010: four) employees received compensation and other
benefits in relation to cessation totalling $162,958 (2010: $82,324). No Authority members received
compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2010: $nil).

Note 26: Events after balance sheet date
On 5 October 2011, the container vessel Rena grounded on the Astrolabe Reef off Tauranga.
Maritime New Zealand has a responsibility to oversee the response to the marine oil spill managed
by the Marine Pollution Response Service in accordance with the National Marine Oil Spill
Contingency Plan. Note 22 in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund financial statements details the
impact on the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.
Maritime New Zealand will incur significant costs in relation to this incident including the
investigation into the cause of the grounding, oversight of the salvage and associated wreck
removal and legal costs, and the costs of any inquiry. The total costs are unknown at this stage.
Maritime New Zealand, at the time of printing this report, was in discussions with the Minister of
Transport in relation to additional Crown funding to meet these extraordinary costs.

88

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

Note 27: Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the New Zealand International
Accounting Standard 39 categories are as follows:
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9)

2,224

4,328

Debtors and other receivables (Note 10)

2,332

2,179

Investments – term deposits (Note 12)

4,971

5,448

Total loans and receivables

9,527

11,955

Derivative financial instrument assets

–

–

Derivative financial instrument liabilities

–

–

Creditors and other payables (Note 16)

3,365

2,800

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

3,365

2,800

Fair value through profit and loss – held for trading

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Note 28: Financial instrument risks
Maritime New Zealand's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Maritime New Zealand has a series of policies to manage the risks
associated with financial instruments, and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments.
These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature.

Market risk
The interest rates on Maritime New Zealand's investments are disclosed in Note 12.

Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. Maritime New Zealand's exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is
limited to its bank deposits, which are held at fixed rates of interest.

Fair-value foreign currency risk
With the exception of foreign currency forward contracts noted below, the fair value of all financial
instruments is an approximation of the fair value to the carrying amount disclosed in the Statement of
Financial position.
The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts based on New Zealand Debit Management Office
spot rates at balance date shows a net unrealised loss of $64,338.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose
Maritime New Zealand to cash-flow interest rate risk. Maritime New Zealand's investment policy
requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements.
Maritime New Zealand currently has no variable interest rate investments.
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Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2011, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all other
variables held constant, the deficit for the year would have been $35,870 (2010: $39,196)
higher/lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term
deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Maritime New Zealand purchases goods and services
overseas, which requires it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of
these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. Maritime New Zealand does not operate any
overseas-currency bank accounts.
It is Maritime New Zealand's policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual
commitments and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreigncurrency risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime New Zealand, causing
Maritime New Zealand to incur a loss. Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime New
Zealand invests surplus cash with registered banks. Maritime New Zealand's investment policy limits
the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. Maritime New Zealand has processes in place to
review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit.
Maritime New Zealand's maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is
represented by the total carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents (Note 9), net debtors (Note 10)
and term deposits (Note 12). There is no collateral held as security against these financial
instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Maritime New Zealand has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of
credit customers and invests funds only with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor's
credit ratings.
Maritime New Zealand holds cash with National bank, Kiwibank, Westpac, ANZ, Bank of New Zealand
and ASB. These banks are part of the Crown Retail Deposit Guarantee Scheme, which guarantees all
deposits up to $1M. There are no term deposits exceeding $1M with any of these banks.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime New Zealand will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash
and the ability to close out market positions. Maritime New Zealand mostly manages liquidity risk by
continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual cash flow requirements.
Maritime New Zealand maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.
The table below analyses Maritime New Zealand's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings,
based on the remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts
disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

90

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

Less than
31 days

Between
31 and 60
days

Between
61 and 90
days

Over 90
days

$000

$000

$000

$000

2010
Creditors and other payables (Note 16)

2,781

12

4

3

3,326

27

–

12

2011
Creditors and other payables (Note 16)

Note 29: Capital management
Maritime New Zealand's capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves.
Equity is represented by net assets.
Maritime New Zealand is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the
Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities,
issuing of guarantees and indemnities, and the use of derivatives.
Maritime New Zealand manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues,
expenses, assets, liabilities and investments, and general financial dealings to ensure Maritime New
Zealand effectively achieves its objectives and purpose while remaining a going concern.

Note 30: Explanation of significant variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from Maritime New Zealand's budgeted figures in the Statement
of Intent 2010–2013 are as follows:

Statement of financial performance
Marine Safety Charge revenue
Revenue is higher than budget. Revenue exceed budget given an increase in vessel movements on
the New Zealand coast as compared to budget. Revenue from cruise vessels, was, however lower
given that there was a reduction in the levy payable by this sector from 1 October 2010.

Other revenue – Funding from Crown entities
Revenue is higher than budget. This relates primarily to additional funding received from the Ministry
of Transport for education and training.

Interest revenue
Revenue is higher than budget. Lower interest rates anticipated did not eventuate combined with
efficient investment of surplus funds.

Personnel and other expenses
Personnel and other operating expenses are higher than budget. This is primarily due to:
the funding review requiring additional resources to establish financial processes and financial
modelling
x

the Maritime Operator Safety System project requiring additional resources to manage project
implementation

x

higher than planned legal costs, due to an increased level of activity in some key litigation
cases. This also included meeting the cost of a judicial review
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x

restructure costs resulting from the strategic review

x

more new staff than anticipated joining the Kiwisaver and Government super subsidy

x

higher than planned costs of the maritime health and safety strategy review for the maritime
industry.

Depreciation/amortisation
Depreciation/amortisation is higher than budget. This is primarily due to additional property, plant and
equipment requirements associated with upgrading the Wednesday Peak radio system and the
Lumley House fit out.

Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents and investments
Cash and cash equivalents and investments are lower than budget due to the additional personnel
and other operating expenses, as explained above.

Statement of changes in equity
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
The deficit for the year was higher than budget due to the budget variances explained in the statement
of comprehensive income above.

Note 31: Directions issued by Ministers
There were no Directions issued by the Minister within the financial reporting period.
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Output class 1: Summary
Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Income
Revenue from Crown
Funding from Crown agencies
Marine Safety Charge revenue
Oil Pollution Recovery
Other
Interest

5,689
2,101
15,586
690
1,074
266

5,689
1,756
15,071
1,122
275

5,709
501
16,936
1,178
215

Output Class Income
Transfer Output Class 2

25,406
-

23,913
930

24,539
1,075

Maritime New Zealand income

25,406

24,843

25,614

3,042
3,494
13,135
1,500

2,724
4,909
9,983
1,343

2,094
2,255
11,244
921

6,013

5,385

5,395

Expenditure
Legislative and regulatory framework
Communication and education
Maritime operations and services

Maritime security
Maritime distress and safety radio, and
navigational aids
Health and safety on board vessels
Output Class Expenditure
Transfer Output Class 2

800

800

800

27,984
-

25,144
920

22,709
1,075

Maritime New Zealand expenditure

27,984

26,064

23,784

Net surplus/(deficit)

(2,578)

(1,221)

1,830

Output class 2: Summary
Actual
2010
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Income
Oil pollution levies
Other revenue
Interest

3,078
341
161

3,023
300
148

3,013
423
179

Output Class Income
Transfer Output Class 1

3,580
-

3,471
(240)

3,615
(230)

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund income

3,580

3,231

3,385

Expenditure
Marine pollution response capability
Marine environment services

4,285
230

4,528
230

4,575
230

Output Class Expenditure
Transfer Output Class 1

4,515
-

4,758
(230)

4,805
(230)

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund expenditure

4,515

4,528

4,575

Net surplus/(deficit)

(935)

(1,297)

(1,190)
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Output class 3: Summary
Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Income
Revenue from Crown
Funding from Crown agencies
Other
Interest

3,888
140
256
92

3,888
140
78

4,538
(1)
80

Total income

4,376

4,106

4,617

Total expenditure

4,944

4,631

4,990

Net surplus/(deficit)

(568)

(525)

(373)

Note: Output 3.3 ended in 2009/10. For comparative purposes the total is reported below:
Output 3.3: Training and coordination of SAR operations

Actual
2011
$000
Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)

Budget
2011
$000
-

94

Actual
2010
$000
-

650
650
-
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Appendix 1: Financial Statements for New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund
Chairman’s report
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships
and offshore oil installations and pipelines. The levy is risk-based, to reflect the level of risk attributable
to different categories of ships and types of oil.
The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority,
which in turn recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.
The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions
from levies are applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and
maintenance of an effective marine oil pollution response system for New Zealand.
On 5 October 2011, the container vessel Rena grounded on the Astrolabe Reef off Tauranga. The
costs of the oil spill response will exceed the current reserves in the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund. The Crown has appropriated additional funds to cover oil spill response costs in the interim.
Further requests for funding may be made as the total costs are unknown at this stage. Cost
recovery from the owners of the vessel will be pursued by the Crown to the extent allowed by law.
The Crown agreed that funding will be managed to leave sufficient reserves in the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund to allow the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to meet normal day to day costs for the
12 months after the annual report sign-off date of 15 November 2011.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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Statement of responsibility for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the judgements used are the
responsibility of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand management, and have been
prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.
The establishment and maintenance of an internal control system designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011
is the responsibility of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand management.
In the opinion of the Authority members and Maritime New Zealand management, financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Dated: 15 November 2011

Dave Morgan
Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Dated: 15 November 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The
Auditor-General has appointed me, John O’Connell, using the staff and resources of Audit
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Fund on her behalf.
We have audited:

x

the financial statements of the Fund on pages 102 to 128, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
movements in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and notes to
the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Unqualified opinion
In our opinion:

x

the financial statements of the Fund on pages 102 to 128:
{

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

{

fairly reflect the Fund’s:
x

financial position as at 30 June 2011; and

x

financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Emphasis of matter – significant oil spill after balance date
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures in note 22 about the grounding of
the container vessel Rena on 5 October 2011, following which there was a significant oil spill. The
costs of the response to the oil spill are expected to exceed the reserves in the Fund. Therefore, the
Crown has made further funds available. We consider the disclosures to be adequate.
Our audit was completed on 15 November 2011. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Members
of the Authority and our responsibilities, and we explain our independence.
Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements and statement of service performance are free from material
misstatement.
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a
reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and statement of service performance. If we
had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our
opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements and statement of service performance. The procedures selected depend on
our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements
and statement of service performance, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Fund’s preparation of the financial
statements and statement of service performance that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate.
We consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:

x

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently
applied;

x

the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the
Authority;

x

the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and statement of service
performance; and

x

the overall presentation of the financial statements and statement of service performance.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial
statements and statement of service performance. We have obtained all the information and
explanations we have required and we believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement of service performance
that:

x

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

x

fairly reflect the Fund’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; and

x

fairly reflect its service performance.

The Authority is also responsible for such internal control as is determined necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements and a statement of service performance that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The Authority’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004.
Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and statement
of service performance and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities Act 2004.
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Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General,
which incorporate the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Crown entity.

John O’Connell
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial
statements
This audit report relates to the financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for
the year ended 30 June 2011 included on Maritime New Zealand’s website. Maritime New
Zealand’s board is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s
website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Maritime New Zealand’s
website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial
statements since they were initially presented on the website.
The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic
data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial
statements and related audit report dated 15 November 2011 to confirm the information
included in the audited financial statements presented on this website.
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Statement of comprehensive income for New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Income
Oil pollution levies
Other revenue
Interest revenue
Gains

Actual
2011
$000

2
3

Total income
Expenditure
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Finance costs
Oil spill response
Other expenses

4
12, 13
5
6

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

3,078
335
161
6

3,023
60
148
–

3,013
193
179
–

3,580

3,231

3,385

1,215
374
4
140
2,782

750
385
–
–
3,393

1,374
384
4
67
2,746

Total expenditure

4,515

4,528

4,575

Net operating surplus/(deficit)

(935)

(1,297)

(1,190)

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income
Gains/(losses) on land and building revaluation

–

–

–

(935)

(1,297)

(1,190)

Total other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 26.

Statement of movements in equity for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Balance as at 1 July as previously reported
Adjustments to retained surpluses on initial
application of amended New Zealand
International Accounting Standard 2

17

Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 June

17

Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

9,269
–

9,447
–

10,459
–

(935)

(1,297)

(1,190)

8,334

8,150

9,269

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
At 30 June 2011
Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Prepayments
Inventories
Investments

Actual
2011
$000

7
8

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

1,250
47
11
1,528
2,235

3,116
182
–
1,530
–

1,029
112
20
1,528
2,937

5,071

4,828

5,626

–
3,935
288

–
3,794
346

572
3,975
346

Total non-current assets

4,223

4,140

4,893

Total assets

9,294

8,968

10,519

846
60

747
71

1,131
69

906

818

1,200

54

–

50

9
10

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

10
12
13

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables
Employee entitlements

14
15

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

16

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
General funds

17

Total equity

54

–

50

960

818

1,250

8,334

8,150

9,269

8,334

8,150

9,269

8,334

8,150

9,269

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2011
Notes

Actual
2011
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from fees and charges
Receipts from other revenue
Interest received
Payments to suppliers
Oil spill response
Payments to employees
Goods and Services Tax (net)
Net cash from operating activities

18

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Receipts from sale of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisition of investments
Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contributions

17

Net cash from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

7

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

2,801
307
151
(3,057)
(143)
(848)
19

3,023
60
148
(3,393)
–
(750)
–

2,940
193
151
(2,973)
(67)
(750)
25

(770)

(912)

(481)

–

–

–

3,491
(280)
–
(2,220)

–
(232)
–
–

1,822
(60)
–
(3,415)

991

(232)

(1,653)

–

–

–

–

–

–

221

(1,144)

(2,134)

1,029

4,260

3,163

1,250

3,116

1,029

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund
Note 1: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June
2011
Reporting entity
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has been established by Maritime New Zealand pursuant to
section 330 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is domiciled in
New Zealand. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s primary objective is to meet the ongoing costs of maintaining
New Zealand’s oil spill response capability, including contingency plans, equipment, and training and
response costs (where they are unable to be recovered from the spiller). Levies imposed on shipping
and oil sites are paid into the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to finance these costs.
Accordingly, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the
purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.
While the financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund form part of the financial reports
of the Authority, they are presented separately in order to clearly identify the income and expenditure
associated with the Authority’s oil pollution response activities.
The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance
with section 330(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2011
and were authorised for issue on 15 November 2011. (1)
Before the container vessel Rena grounded on the Astrolabe Reef of Tauranga on 5 October 2011
the Authority was to give approval on 31 October 2011. The approval date was extended as Audit
New Zealand was unable to obtain all information and explanations to obtain reasonable assurance
due to the unavailability of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund staff involved with the Rena grounding.
This has resulted in not complying with the Crown Entities Act 2004, section 156 (1) (a) that states a
Crown Entity must forward to the Auditor-General its annual financial statements, and any other
information that the Auditor-General has agreed, or is required, to audit within three months after the
end of each financial year.

(1)

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with
New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice.
The financial statements comply with New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standards, and
other applicable financial reporting standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis, except where modified by
the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment.
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Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is
New Zealand dollars.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the financial year.
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has adopted the following revision to accounting standards during the
financial year, which have had only a presentational or disclosure effect:
x

New Zealand International Accounting Standard 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised 2009) –
The effect of early adopting the revised New Zealand International Accounting Standard 24 is:
x

more information is required to be disclosed about transactions between the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund and entities controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by the
Crown

x

commitments with related parties require disclosure

x

information is required to be disclosed about any related party transactions with Ministers of
the Crown.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted, and which are relevant to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund include:
x

x

New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures –
The effect of early adopting these amendments is the following information is no longer disclosed:
x

the carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose
terms have been renegotiated; and

x

the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial instrument if the maximum credit
risk exposure is best represented by their carrying amount.

New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments will eventually
replace New Zealand International Accounting Standard 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. New Zealand International Accounting Standard 39 is being replaced through
the following three main phases: Phase 1 Classification and Measurement, Phase 2 Impairment
Methodology, and Phase 3 Hedge Accounting. Phase 1 on the classification and measurement of
financial assets has been completed and has been published in the new financial instrument
standard New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard 9. New Zealand International
Financial Reporting Standard 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is
measured at amortised cost or fair value, replacing the many different rules in New Zealand
International Accounting Standard 39. The approach in New Zealand International Financial
Reporting Standard 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business
model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard
also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the many different impairment
methods in New Zealand International Accounting Standard 39. The new standard is required to
be adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014. Maritime New Zealand has not yet assessed the
effect of the new standard and expects it will not be adopted early.

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.
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Revenue
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund earns revenue from interest on investments and levies to third
parties for the provision of services. Such revenue is recognised when earned, and is reported in the
financial period to which it relates.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Interest
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest income on an impaired
financial asset is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage
of completion at the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys
of work performed or Oil Pollution Levy, based on information from New Zealand Customs regarding
port visits.

Leases
Operating leases
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an
operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the lease
term as an integral part of the total lease expense.
Finance leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred. At the commencement of the
lease term, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in
the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item, or the present value
of the minimum lease payments.
The finance charge is charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The amount
recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with domestic banks, and
other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three months or less.

Debtors and other accounts receivable
Debtors and other accounts receivable are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment.
Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivable.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, and
default in payments are considered indicators that the debtor is impaired.
The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate.

107

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue receivables that
have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (i.e. not past due).

Investments
At each balance sheet date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that an investment is impaired.
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Short-term investments are deposited with registered New Zealand banks. Short-term investments are
recognised at lower of cost or net realisable value.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original term of the deposit.
Significant financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy, and
default in payments are considered indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Inventories
Inventories held for consumption in the provision of services that are not issued on a commercial basis
are measured at cost (determined on the weighted average cost method), adjusted when applicable,
for any loss of service potential. The replacement cost or service potential of spare parts inventory
held for distribution reflects any obsolescence or any other impairment. The write-down from cost to
current replacement cost or net realisable value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in the period when the write-down occurs.
Inventory items used to repair or maintain an asset are recorded as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income. Items that replace an existing asset and are over $2,000 are recorded as
property, plant and equipment, with the asset being replaced written off. If the replacement item is
under $2,000, the cost is usually recorded as repairs and maintenance unless the item is part of an
operating asset unit, in which case the cost is recorded as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward exchange contracts are held) are
translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as follows:
x

plant and equipment

x

vessels

x

motor vehicles

x

furniture, fittings and office equipment

x

computer equipment

x

leasehold improvements.

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
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Revaluations
All asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. The carrying values of revalued items are
reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those values are not materially different to fair value.
Additions between revaluations are recorded at cost.

Accounting for revaluations
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a
class of assets basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to the revaluation reserve for that class of asset.
Where this results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that offsets a previous
decrease in value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income will be recognised first in the
statement of comprehensive income up to the amount previously expensed, and then credited to the
revaluation reserve for that class of asset.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value when control
over the asset is obtained.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of
the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement of comprehensive income.
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of those
assets are transferred to general New Zealand Oil Pollution Funds.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future
economic benefit or service potential associated with the item will flow to the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than land,
at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over
their useful lives.
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in the preparation of these statements are as
follows:
Asset type
Plant and equipment
Vessels

Useful life
(years)

Depreciation
method

5–50

straight-line

10–35

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings and office equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

Leasehold improvements
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The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the unexpired period of the
lease. Items under construction are not depreciated. The total cost of a capital project is transferred to
the appropriate asset class on its completion and then depreciated.

Intangible assets
Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. Costs that are directly associated with the development of software
for internal use by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct
costs include the software development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.
Staff training costs and costs associated with the development and maintenance of the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund’s website are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date the asset is
derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been
estimated as follows:
Software type

Useful life
(years)

Acquired computer software
Developed computer software

Depreciation
method

3–5

straight-line

8

straight-line

Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or
service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash
inflows and where the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund would, if deprived of the asset, replace its
remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets, the impairment loss is
recognised against the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a debit
balance in the asset revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the asset revaluation reserve.
However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
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For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken
at balance date.
Employee entitlements that the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund expects to be settled within 12 months
of balance date are measured at undiscounted nominal values based on accrued entitlements at
current rates of pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in accordance with the
Holidays Act 2003.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not recognise a liability for sick leave, as staff have an
unlimited entitlement.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is
contractually obliged to pay them, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Superannuation schemes
Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government Superannuation New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund are accounted for as a defined contribution superannuation scheme and are
recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Provisions
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount
or timing when there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognised as a finance cost.

Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on a Goods and Services Tax exclusive basis, with
the exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable, which are stated with Goods and
Services Tax included. Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as input tax, then it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received from Inland Revenue, including the Goods and
Services Tax relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the
statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.
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Income tax
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a public authority in terms of the Income Tax Act 2007 and
consequently is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been provided
for.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent, as approved by the Authority at the
beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with New
Zealand International Financial Reporting Standard, using accounting policies that are consistent with
those adopted by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the preparation of the financial statements.
Some budget numbers have been classified differently from the Statement of Intent to bring them into
line with the classifications used in the financial statements.

Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the financial period to which they relate.

Cost allocation
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation
system outlined below.
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that can not
be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output.
All costs are tracked by account code, cost centre and activity code. Direct costs are charged directly
to outputs. Indirect costs are allocated to cost centres on the basis of cost drivers and related
activity/usage information. The cost centres are assigned or apportioned to an output or outputs. For
the majority of cost centres, there is a one-to-one relationship with outputs. All overheads are
allocated to outputs on the basis of full-time equivalents.
There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the date of the last audited
financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has made estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets useful lives and residual value
At each balance date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund reviews the useful lives and residual values
of its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life
and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets requires the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to consider a number of factors, such as the physical condition of the
asset, expected period of use of the asset by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and expected
disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact on the depreciation/amortisation
expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and on the carrying amount of the
asset in the statement of financial position. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund minimised the risk of
this estimation uncertainty by:
x

physical inspections of assets

x

asset replacement programmes

112

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2010/11
x

review of the second-hand market prices for similar assets

x

analysis of prior asset sales.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has not made significant changes to past assumptions
concerning useful lives and residual values.

Critical judgements
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements.

Capital commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that relate to unperformed goods or
services that have been entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments. Commitments
disclosed include those operating and capital commitments arising from non-cancellable contractual or
statutory obligations.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent
assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in bank accounts, and demand deposits in
which the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.
Operating activities include cash received from all income sources and records the cash payments
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest, and capital charges.
Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets,
intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and debt capital structure of the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund.

Terminology
Output class income and expenditure prior year financial information is reclassified to align with the
Statement of Intent. The reclassification is made to provide information that is relevant to the
understanding of the financial statements and has no impact on the net surplus/deficit.
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Note 2: Other revenue
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Oil spill cost recovery

299

155

Bad debts recovered

–

4

27

27

9

7

335

193

Equipment hire
Other income
Total other revenue

Note 3: Gains
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

6

–

Total gains

6

–

Note 4: Personnel expenses
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Salaries and wages

828

720

Salaries recovered by Maritime New Zealand

360

609

Employer contributions to contribution plans

36

33

Employee entitlement increase/(decrease) (Note 15)

(9)

12

1,215

1,374

Total personnel costs

Note 5: Finance costs
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 16)

4

4

Total finance costs

4

4
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Note 6: Other expenses
Actual
2011
$000
Administration

Actual
2010
$000

45

43

1

1

Costs covered by Maritime New Zealand

330

236

Consultancy

203

217

Bad debts written off

Cost of goods sold

–

7

10

9

–

–

123

134

37

26

205

204

54

51

Professional services

404

474

Regional council costs

919

938

Staff travel

208

178

Training and exercises

243

228

Total other expenses

2,782

2,746

Fees to auditors (financial statement audit)
Impairment of receivables (Note 8)
Maintenance
Marketing and public relations
Operating lease expense
Other

Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents
Actual
2011
$000
Cash on hand and at bank

Actual
2010
$000

15

2

Cash equivalents – term deposits

1,235

1,027

Total cash and cash equivalents

1,250

1,029

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates
their fair value.
The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term deposits with maturity dates of three
months or less is 3.08% (2010: 3.2%).
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Note 8: Debtors and other receivables
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Trade debtors

1

7

Less: provision for impairment

–

–

Net trade debtors

1

7

Other accounts receivable

47

87

Goods and Services Tax refundable

(1)

18

Total debtors and other receivables

47
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The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.
As at 30 June 2011 and 2010, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and
appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below:

Gross
$000

2011
Impairment
$000

Net
$000

Gross
$000

2010
Impairment
$000

Net
$000

Not past due

1

–

1

5

–

5

Past due 1–30 days

–

–

–

2

–

2

Past due 31–60 days

–

–

–

–

–

–

Past due 61–90 days

–

–

–

–

–

–

Past due > 90 days

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total

1

–

1

7

–

7

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund’s pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund's losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors.
The specific debtors that are insolvent are fully provided for. As at 30 June 2011, the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund has identified no debtor (2010: 1) totalling $0 (2010: $2,094.21) that is insolvent.
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Balance at 1 July

–

–

Additional provisions made during the year (Note 6)

–

–

Receivables written off during the period

–

–

Balance at 30 June

–

–
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Note 9: Inventories
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Spare parts

1,528

1,528

Total inventories

1,528

1,528

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $0 (2010: $1,747). There have been no
reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

Note 10: Investments
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Current investments are represented by:
Term deposits

2,235

2,937

Total current portion

2,235

2,937

Term deposits

–

572

Total non-current portion

–

572

2,235

3,509

Total investments

There were no impairment provisions for investments.
Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits

Term deposits with maturities 4–6 months (average maturity 149 days)

Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000
–

Weighted average effective interest rate

–
–

Term deposits with maturities 6–12 months (average maturity 365 days)
Weighted average effective interest rate

2,235

2,937

4.58%

6.3%

Term deposits with maturities in excess of 12 months (average maturity
730 days)

–

572

Weighted average effective interest rate

–

6.3%

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximate their fair
value.
Term deposits are invested at fixed rates ranging from 3.70% to 5.35%. As these deposits are at a
fixed interest rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease in interest rates during
the period would not impact on the measurement of the investments and there would therefore be no
impact on the deficit or equity.
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Note 11: Derivative financial instruments
The notional principal amount of outstanding forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2011 was $nil
(2010: $nil). The fair value of forward exchange contracts has been determined using a discounted
cash flow valuation technique based on quoted market rates.

Note 12: Property, plant and equipment
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Plant &
equipment

Vessels

Motor
vehicles

Furniture,
fittings &
office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Leasehold
improvement

Work in
progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2009
Additions
Work in progress
Transfer to/(from) WIP
Disposals

9,405

454

287

98

23

60

206

10,533

60

–

–

–

–

–

–

60

–

–

–

–

–

–

54

54

206

–

–

–

–

–

(206)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

9,671

454

287

98

23

60

54

10,647

Balance at 1 July 2010

9,671

454

287

98

23

60

54

10,647

275

–

–

5

–

–

–

280

–

–

–

–

–

–

60

60

Additions
Work in progress
Transfer to/(from) WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2011

54

–

–

–

–

–

(54)

–

(64)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(64)

9,936

454

287

103

23

60

60

10,923

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2009

5,841

115

220

95

22

54

–

6,347

Depreciation expenses

256

31

35

1

1

1

–

325

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

6,097

146

255

96

23

55

–

6,672

Balance at 1 July 2010

6,097

146

255

96

23

55

–

6,672

Depreciation expenses

257

30

25

3

–

1

–

316

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

6,354

176

280

99

23

56

–

6,988

At 30 June 2010

3,574

308

32

2

–

5

54

3,975

At 30 June 2011

3,582

278

7

4

–

4

60

3,935

Balance at 30 June 2011

Carrying amounts
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Note 13: Intangible assets
Movements for each intangible asset class
Acquired
software

Internally
generated
software
$000

Work in
progress

Total

$000

$000

27

492

–

519

Additions

–

–

–

–

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

27

492

–

519

Balance at 1 July 2010

$000
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2009

27

492

–

519

Additions

–

–

–

–

Disposals

–

–

–

–

27

492

–

519

Balance at 1 July 2009

27

88

–

115

Amortisation expenses

–

58

–

58

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2010

27

146

–

173

Balance at 1 July 2010

27

146

–

173

Amortisation expenses

–

58

–

58

Disposals

–

–

–

–

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

27

204

–

231

At 30 June 2010

–

346

–

346

At 30 June 2011

–

288

–

288

Balance at 30 June 2011
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 30 June 2011
Carrying amounts

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s intangible assets, and
there are no intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 14: Creditors and other payables
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Trade creditors

49

171

Accrued salary and wages

26

14

Accrued expenses

771

946

Total creditors and other payables

846

1,131

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms;
therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.

Note 15: Employee entitlements
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Current annual leave

60

69

Total employee entitlements

60

69

Note 16: Provisions
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Current provisions are represented by:
Lease make-good

–

–

Total current portion

–

–

Lease make-good

54

50

Total non-current portion

54

50

Total provisions

54

50

Non-current provisions are represented by:
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
Movement in provisions statement

Lease makegood
$000

Balance at 1 July 2009

46

Additional provisions made

–

Amounts used

–

Discount unwind (Note 5)

4

Balance at 30 June 2010

50

Balance at 1 July 2010

50

Additional provisions made

–

Amounts used

–

Discount unwind (Note 5)

4

Balance at 30 June 2011

54

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good
any damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or
fittings installed by the Fund. In many cases, the Fund has the option to renew these leases, which
impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about the
Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 19.

Note 17: Equity
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

General funds
Balance at 1 July, as previously reported

9,269

10,459

Surplus/(deficit)

(935)

(1,190)

Total equity at 30 June

8,334

9,269
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Note 18: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from
operating activities

Net surplus/(deficit)

Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

(935)

(1,190)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

374

384

Total non-cash items

374

384

(Increase)/decrease in fixed asset accruals

–

–

Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets

6

–

Total items classified as investing/financing activities

6

–

–

2

65

(66)

(289)

374

9

15

Net movements in working capital items

(215)

325

Net cash from operating activities

(770)

(481)

Add/(less) non-cash items

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities

Add/(less) movements in working capital items
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in debtors and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, including provisions
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
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Note 19: Capital commitments and operating leases
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Capital commitments

–

Property, plant and equipment

–

63

Intangible assets

–

–

Total capital commitments

–

63

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:
Actual
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

Not later than 1 year

147

147

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

590

332

37

–

774

479

431

295

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

–

20

Not later than 5 years

–

–

431

315

1,205

857

Not later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases
Other non-cancellable commitments
Not later than 1 year

Total other non-cancellable lease commitments
Total commitments

The Fund leases one property, as follows:
Office location

Auckland (MPRS), 755 Te Atatu Rd, Te Atatu

Lease
start
date

Lease
renewal
date

Lease
expiry
date

Jul 09

Sep 13

30 Sep 16

The Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $54,000 (2010: $50,000) in respect of these
leases (Note 16).

Note 20: Contingencies
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2011 (2010:
$nil).
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Note 21: Related party transactions
Related-party transactions
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government
significantly influences the role of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
enters into all related party transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Significant transaction with government-related entities
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund receives no Crown Funding.
Collectively, but not individually, significant, transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required to pay various taxes and levies
(such as Goods and Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn, and Accident Compensation
Corporation levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment of these taxes and
levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and
levy payers. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is exempt from paying income tax.
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund also purchases goods and service from entities controlled,
significantly influenced, or jointly controlled by the Crown. Purchases from these government-related
entities for the year ended 30 June 2011 totalled $81,000 (2010: $75,000). These purchases included
air travel from Air New Zealand and postal services from New Zealand Post.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The
aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:
Transaction

Ref

Transaction value
year ended 30 June
2011
$000

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund – cost
recovered by Maritime New Zealand

1.

1

Balance outstanding
year ended 30 June

2010
$000

330

2011
$000

236

2010
$000

17

46

Maritime New Zealand is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The
costs relating to this administration have been paid to Maritime New Zealand on a cost recovery
basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from
related parties (2010: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation
Actual
2011
$000
Salaries and other short-term benefits

Actual
2010
$000

128

140

Employer contributions to superannuation schemes

6

7

Termination benefits

–

–

134

147

Total key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel includes the manager of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.
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Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable

Actual
2011

Actual
2010

110,000 to 119,999

1

2

120,000 to 129,999

2

-

140,000 to 149,999

-

1

Total employees

3

3

During the year ending 30 June 2011, no (2010: 0) employees received compensation and other
benefits in relation to cessation totalling $nil (2010: $nil). No Authority members received
compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2010: $nil).

Note 22: Events after balance sheet date
On 5 October 2011, the container vessel Rena grounded on the Astrolabe Reef off Tauranga. The
costs of the oil spill response will exceed the current reserves in the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund. The Crown has appropriated additional funds to cover oil spill response costs in the interim.
Further requests for funding may be made as the total costs are unknown at this stage. Cost
recovery from the owners of the vessel will be pursued by the Crown to the extent allowed by law.
The Crown agreed that funding will be managed to leave sufficient reserves in the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund to allow the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to meet normal day to day costs for the
12 months after the annual report sign-off date of 15 November 2011.

Note 23: Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the New Zealand International
Accounting Standard 39 categories are as follows:
Actual
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7)

1,250

1,029

Debtors and other receivables (Note 8)

47

112

Investments – term deposits (Note 10)

2,235

3,509

Total loans and receivables

3,532

4,650

Creditors and other payables (Note 14)

846

1,131

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

846

1,131

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Note 24: Financial instrument risks
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks,
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has a series of
policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure
from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are
speculative in nature.
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Market risk
The interest rates on the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s investments are disclosed in Note 10.

Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s exposure to fair-value interest
rate risk is limited to its bank deposits that are held at fixed rates of interest.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to cash-flow interest rate risk.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity
dates, to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
currently has no variable-interest rate investments.

Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2011, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all other
variables held constant, the deficit for the year would have been $17,350 (2010: $26,928)
higher/lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term
deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund purchases goods and services overseas that require it to enter
into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to
currency risk arises. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not operate any overseas currency
bank accounts.
It is the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from
contractual commitments and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge
the foreign currency risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund, causing the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to incur a loss.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests surplus
cash with registered banks. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s investment policy limits the amount
of credit exposure to any one institution.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers
prior to the granting of credit.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument
is represented by the total carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents (Note 7), net debtors (Note
8) and term deposits (Note 10). There is no collateral held as security against these financial
instruments, including instruments that are overdue or impaired.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small
number of credit customers and invests New Zealand Oil Pollution Funds only with registered banks
with specified Standard and Poor's credit ratings.
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The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund holds cash with National bank, Kiwibank, Westpac, ANZ, Bank of
New Zealand and ASB. These banks are part of the Crown Retail Deposit Guarantee Scheme, which
guarantees all deposits up to $1,000,000. There are no term deposits exceeding $1,000,000 with any
of these banks.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds
to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and the ability to close out market positions. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund mostly manages
liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual cash flow requirements.
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.
The table below analyses New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings, based on the remaining period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The
amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than
31 days
$000

31–60
days
$000

61–90
days
$000

Over 90
days
$000

2010
Creditors and other payables (Note 14)

1,127

4

–

–

846

–

–

–

2011
Creditors and other payables (Note 14)

Note 25: Capital management
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated New Zealand
Oil Pollution Funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is subject to the financial management and accountability
provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings,
acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities, and the use of derivatives.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing
revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments, and general financial dealings to ensure the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund effectively achieves its objectives and purpose while remaining a
going concern.

Note 26: Explanation of significant variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund's budgeted figures in the
Statement of Intent 2010–2013 are as follows:

Statement of financial performance
Oil pollution levies and other revenue
Revenue is higher than budget. This relates primarily to the recovery of seconded staff costs providing
assistance in the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. The revenue was not planned as
the Deepwater Horizon oil spill was an extraordinary event.

Interest revenue
Revenue is higher than budget. Lower interest rates anticipated did not eventuate combined with
efficient investment of surplus funds.
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Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are higher than budget. This relates primarily to operating costs in Budget 2011
now categorised as personnel costs.

Oil spill response
Oil spill response expenses are higher than budget. This relates primarily to seconded staff providing
assistance in the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico.

Other expenses
Other expenses are less than budget. This relates primarily to:
x

training courses cancelled / deferred as a result of the Canterbury earthquake. These relate to
courses for regional council staff and those run by the Marine Pollution Response Service
(MPRS).

x

savings made holding industry seminars at regional councils at nominal cost.

x

efficiencies resulting in fewer training exercises conducted.

x

operating costs in Budget 2011 now categorised as personnel costs.

Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents and investments
Cash and cash equivalents and investments are higher than budget. This is primarily due to:
x

staff costs recovered from the Deepwater Horizon oil spill, as mentioned above

x

lower levels of expenses being incurred, particularly in the area of other expenses, as
mentioned above.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are higher than budget due primarily to the timing of year-end accruals
relating to regional council costs.

Note 27: Directions issued by Ministers
There were no Directions issued by Ministers within the financial reporting period.
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Appendix 2: Maritime New Zealand and Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand additional financial
information
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand with Maritime New Zealand’s traditional business activities. This appendix provides
additional financial information that does not form part of Maritime New Zealand’s audited accounts, to
give readers more detail about the cost of operating Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand.

Statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 30 June 2011
Maritime New Zealand

Income
Revenue from Crown
marine safety charge
revenue
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gains
Total income
Expenditure
Personnel costs
Depreciation
Capital charge
Finance costs
Other expenses

Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand

Group

Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Actual
2010

Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Actual
2010

Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

5,689

5,689

5,709

3,888

3,888

4,538

9,577

9,577

10,247

15,586

15,071

16,936

–

–

–

15,586

15,071

16,936

266

275

215

92

78

80

358

353

295

3,851

3,808

2,710

396

140

–

4,247

3,948

2,710

14

–

44

–

–

(1)

14

–

43

25,406

24,843

25,614

4,376

4,106

4,617

29,782

28,949

30,230

13,586

12,747

11,514

2,411

2,057

2,650

15,997

14,804

14,164

1,725

1,659

1,538

146

163

199

1,871

1,822

1,737

693

693

693

172

193

154

865

886

847

8

–

4

-

–

–

8

–

4

11,972

10,965

11,319

2,215

2,218

1,987

14,187

13,183

12,022

Total expenditure

27,984

26,064

23,784

4,944

4,631

4,990

32,928

30,695

28,774

Net surplus

(2,578)

(1,221)

1,830

(568)

(525)

(373)

(3,146)

(1,746)

1,457

Statement of movements in equity
Year ended 30 June 2011
Maritime New Zealand
Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand

Group

Actual
2010

Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

$000

Actual
2011

Budget
2011

Actual
2010

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

15,932

15,490

14,185

2,300

2,206

1,923

18,232

17,696

16,108

Property, plant and
equipment revaluation
gains/(losses)

–

–

(83)

–

–

–

–

–

(83)

Surplus/(deficit) for the
year

(2,578)

(1,221)

1,830

(568)

(525)

(373)

(3,146)

(1,746)

1,457

Total recognised income
and expenses

13,354

14,269

15,932

1,732

1,681

1,550

15,086

15,950

17,476

Balance as 1 July
Amounts recognised
directly in equity

Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

–

–

–

167

270

750

167

270

750

13,354

14,269

15,932

1,899

1,951

2,300

15,253

16,220

18,232
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Statement of financial position
At 30 June 2011
Maritime New Zealand
Actual
2011
$000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Prepayments
Inventories
Investments

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand
Actual
Budget
Actual
2011
2011
2010
$000
$000
$000

1,628
2,296
254
264
3,776

6,382
2,001
175
267
-

3,188
2,270
172
241
4,168

596
36
167
1,195

1,833
4
221
-

1,140
61
152
1,280

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

8,218

8,825

10,039

1,994

2,058

2,633

4,580
4,380

4,442
4,488

4,917
4,134

266
101

300
219

265
106

Total non-current assets

8,960

8,930

9,051

367

519

371

17,178

17,755

19,090

2,361

2,577

3,004

3,024
687
-

2,329
1,157
-

2,436
617
3

341
114
-

467
159
-

516
181
-

3,711

3,486

3,056

455

626

697

113

-

102

7

-

7

113

-

102

7

-

7

3,824

3,486

3,158

462

626

704

13,354

14,269

15,932

1,899

1,951

2,300

9,017
3,772
565

14,925
(1,221)
565

9,238
6,129
565

4,505
(2,606)
-

2,476
(525)
-

4,117
(1,817)
-

13,354

14,269

15,932

1,899

1,951

2,300

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables
Employee entitlements
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Crown contribution
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Total equity
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Statement of financial position (continued)
At 30 June 2011
ELIMINATIONS
Actual
Budget
Actual
2011
2011
2010
$000
$000
$000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables
Prepayments
Inventories
Investments

Actual
2011
$000

GROUP
Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

-

-

(152)
-

2,224
2,332
421
264
4,971

8,215
2,005
396
267
-

4,328
2,179
324
241
5,448

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

-

-

(152)

10,212

10,883

12,520

-

-

-

4,846
4,481

4,742
4,707

5,182
4,240

Total non-current assets

-

-

-

9,327

9,449

9,422

Total assets

-

-

(152)

19,539

20,332

21,942

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables
Employee entitlements
Provisions

-

-

(152)
-

3,365
801
-

2,796
1,316
-

2,800
798
3

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

-

-

(152)

4,166

4,112

3,601

-

-

-

120

-

109

Total non-current liabilities

-

-

-

120

-

109

Total liabilities

-

-

(152)

4,286

4,112

3,710

Net assets

-

-

-

15,253

16,220

18,232

EQUITY
Crown contribution
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

-

-

-

13,522
1,166
565

17,401
(1,746)
565

13,355
4,312
565

Total equity

-

-

-

15,253

16,220

18,232
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 30 June 2011
Maritime New Zealand

Cash flows from operating
activities
Receipts from Crown
revenue
Interest received
Fees and charges
Receipts from other revenue
Payments to suppliers
Payments to capital charge
Payments to employees
Goods and services tax (net)

Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

5,689

7,666

Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand
Actual Budget Actual
2011
2011
2010
$000
$000
$000

Actual
2010
$000

5,709

3,888

3,888

4,538
79

254

275

206

96

78

16,004

16,902

17,367

-

-

Group
Actual
2011
$000

Budget
2011
$000

Actual
2010
$000

9,577

11,554

10,247

350

353

285

16,004

16,902

17,367

2,877

-

1,513

290

140

(151)

3,167

140

1,664

(12,026)

(10,965)

(10,155)

(2,016)

(2,217)

(2,390)

(14,042)

(13,182)

(12,555)

(693)

(693)

(693)

(173)

(193)

(154)

(866)

(886)

(847)

(12,932)

(12,747)

(11,704)

(2,161)

(2,057)

(2,005)

(15,093)

(14,804)

(13,709)

(56)

-

(11)

(19)

-

38

(75)

-

27

(883)

438

2,434

(95)

(361)

(45)

(978)

77

2,479

14

-

50

-

-

-

14

-

50

4,133

-

2,222

1,268

-

1,310

5,401

-

3,532

(805)

(452)

(482)

(18)

(86)

(18)

(823)

(538)

(500)

(856)

(1,029)

(1,408)

(124)

(220)

(53)

(980)

(1,249)

(1,461)

(3,163)

-

(4,133)

(1,742)

-

(1,268)

(4,905)

-

(5,401)

(677)

(1,481)

(3,751)

(616)

(306)

(29)

(1,293)

(1,787)

(3,780)

-

-

-

167

270

750

167

270

750

-

-

-

167

-

750

167

-

750

Net (decrease)/increase in
cash and cash equivalents

(1,560)

(1,043)

(1,277)

(544)

(397)

676

(2,104)

(1,440)

(601)

Cash and cash equivalents
at start of year

3,188

7,425

4,465

1,140

2,230

464

4,328

9,655

4,929

Cash and cash
equivalents at end of year

1,628

6,382

3,188

596

1,833

1,140

2,224

8,215

4,328

3,188

596

-

1,140

2,224

-

4,328

4,168

1,195

-

1,280

4,971

-

5,448

7,356

1,791

1,833

2,420

7,195

8,215

9,776

Net cash from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing
activities
Receipts from sale of
property, plant and
equipments
Receipts from sale of
investments
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment
Purchase of intangible
assets
Acquisition of investments
Net cash from investing
activities
Cash flows from financing
activities
Capital contribution
Net cash from financing
activities

Note: Cash, bank and investments at end of year
1,628
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year
3,776
Investments greater than 3
months at end of year
Closing cash, bank and
investments

5,404

6,382
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Appendix 3: Maritime New Zealand’s primary functions
Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity comprising a five-member board known as the Authority (see
sections 429 and 429A of the Maritime Transport Act), appointed under the Crown Entities Act 2004.
Maritime New Zealand’s primary functions and duties are laid out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994,
which sets out the objective of the Authority (section 430) as follows:
To undertake its safety, security, marine protection and other functions in a way that contributes to the
aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive and sustainable transport system.
Maritime New Zealand has additional obligations and functions under the following legislation:
x

Maritime Security Act 2004: Maritime New Zealand has been designated as the agency
responsible for administering this Act for the effective implementation of the International Code for
the Security of Ships and of Port Facilities.

x

Section 14C of the Civil Aviation Act 1990: Maritime New Zealand is responsible for coordinating
Category II search and rescue operations, and for operating and maintaining the Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand

x

Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992: Maritime New Zealand has been designated as the
responsible agency to administer this Act for work on board ships and for ships as places of work.

x

Ship Registration Act 1992: Maritime New Zealand is required to maintain the New Zealand
Register of Ships.

Statutory functions
Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Maritime New Zealand has the following functions:
x

To promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment in and beyond
New Zealand, in accordance with New Zealand’s international obligations

x

To ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication systems and
navigational aids for shipping

x

To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills

x

To license ships, their operation and their crews

x

To cooperate with, or provide advice and assistance to, any government agency or local
government agency when requested to do so by the Minister

x

To provide information and advice with respect to maritime transport and marine protection, and
to foster appropriate information and education programmes with respect to maritime transport
and marine protection

x

To investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents, and maritime security
breaches and incidents

x

To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships

x

To maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s functions

x

To advise the Minister on technical maritime safety policy.

Other functions
x

To administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 Act for work on board ships and for
ships as places of work

x

To administer the international obligations of the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and other
international maritime and marine environment protection agreements, as agreed with the
Minister of Transport

x

To develop and maintain maritime safety and marine protection rules
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x

To ensure effective implementation of the International Code for the Security of Ships and of Port
Facilities, in accordance with the Maritime Security Act

x

To maintain and operate the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand, and participate in the
coordination of any search and rescue operation, as required under the Civil Aviation Act

x

To ensure New Zealand’s Long Range Identification and Tracking of ships system obligations are
maintained.

Functions of the Director
The Authority is required to appoint a chief executive officer, who shall also fulfil the statutory office of
Director of Maritime New Zealand.
Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, the Director has the following functions:
x

To exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the granting of maritime
documents and marine protection documents. (A maritime document is any licence, permit,
certificate or other document issued by the Director of Maritime New Zealand under Section 41 of
the Maritime Transport Act 1994, including certificates of competency, safe ship management
,surveyor recognition and safe crewing documents)

x

To take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the
Maritime Transport Act 1994, and other Acts (such as the Maritime Security Act 2004, Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act and Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992), and of
regulations and rules made under these Acts, including the carrying out or requiring of
inspections and audits

x

To monitor adherence within the maritime transport system to any regulatory requirements
relating to safety and security, access and mobility, public health and environmental sustainability

x

To ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport system and to promote the improvement and
development of its safety and security.

The Director has statutory independence from the Authority and the Minister when performing the
following functions in a particular case:
x

Granting, suspending or revoking maritime documents or marine protection documents

x

Granting exemptions from maritime rules or marine protection rules.
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Appendix 4: Delegations and contracting out
The following lists the significant functions and powers of the Authority and the Director of Maritime
New Zealand (Maritime New Zealand) that are delegated or contracted out, or for which appointments
have been made, or for which there is memoranda of understanding.
The Authority has assigned the following operational activities to contractors by way of contracts for
services:
x

Agreement for provision of maritime communications networks services with Kordia (then BCL)
effective from 20 August 2003 until 30 June 2014

x

With Massey University for the preparedness and response capability to respond to oiled marine
wildlife arising from certain Tier 2 and all Tier 3 marine oil spills.

The Director of Maritime New Zealand has delegated numerous powers and functions to persons and
organisations who are not employees of the Authority, as follows:
x

The powers in relation to the administration of New Zealand’s Safe Ship Management system to
eight SSM companies imposed under Part 21 of the Maritime Rules

x

The issue of statutory certificates in respect of convention ships registered under the New
Zealand flag has been delegated to the following classification societies:
x

American Bureau of Shipping – effective until 1 May 2014

x

Bureau Veritas – effective until 1 May 2014

x

Det Norske Veritas – effective until 1 May 2014

x

Germanischer Lloyd – effective until 1 May 2014

x

Lloyds Register – effective until 1 May 2014

x

The inspection of New Zealand pleasure craft departing for overseas has been delegated to
Yachting New Zealand – effective until 30 March 2014

x

Harbourmasters have been delegated the power:
x

under section 48 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994 to set, conduct and administer
examinations and tests for the issue of pilot licences and master’s pilotage exemptions, and

x

under section 60A(2) to direct that a pilot be taken on board a ship in New Zealand waters in
specified circumstances

x

The power to issue maritime documents under Maritime Rule Part 35 (training and examinations)
of the maritime rules has been delegated to a number of organisations

x

The power to approve the erection or alteration of a navigational aid in the Marlborough District,
under section 200(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994, has been delegated to the
harbourmaster, Marlborough District Council.

The Director of Maritime New Zealand has also warranted and delegated the following activities
associated with the protection of the marine environment:
x

The power to investigate marine oil spills within the coastal marine area, under section 235 of the
MTA, has been delegated to specified persons in regional councils (by warrant of authority)

x

The power to approve and audit oil transfer site marine oil spill contingency plans has been
delegated to the chief executives of regional councils (by delegation).
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The following contracts have been entered into with persons and organisations outside the Authority in
relation to the provision of services relating to Output Class 3 and Rescue Operations:
x

EMS Pacific Pty Ltd Maintenance Services Agreement, for the maintenance of the COSPASSARSAT Local User Terminal (facilities installed at the Rescue Coordination Centre New
Zealand)

x

EMS Pacific Pty Ltd Software Subscription/Support Services Agreement, for the software support
of the COSPAS-SARSAT Local User Terminal

x

Australian Maritime Safety Authority Agreement in respect of the operation of the Local User
Terminal

x

memorandum of understanding with Life Flight Trust to supply medical advice.
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Appendix 5: Directory

Nelson

National office

Shipping House
36 Graham Street 7201
PO Box 5015

Level 10, Optimation House
1 Grey Street

Port Nelson
Nelson 7043

PO Box 27006
Wellington 6141

Phone:
Fax:

Phone: +64 4 473 0111
Fax:
+64 4 494 1263
Toll-free info line: 0508 22 55 22

Picton
Mariners Mall, High Street
Picton 7220

District offices

PO Box 301
Picton 7250

Whangarei

Phone:
Fax:

Portacom A1
Ralph Trimmer Drive
Marsden Point 0171

265A High Street
Rangiora 7400
PO Box 11
Rangiora 7440
Phone: +64 3 328 8734
Fax:
+64 3 328 9423

+64 9 432 7056
+64 9 432 7056

Auckland
2A Augustus Terrace
Level 1
Parnell 1052

Dunedin
1 Birch Street
Dunedin 9016

PO Box 624, Shortland Street
Auckland 1140
Phone:
Fax:

+64 3 520 3068
+64 3 520 3068

Rangiora (formerly Lyttelton)

PO Box 195
Ruakaka 0151
Phone:
Fax:

+64 3 548 2434
+64 3 548 2998

PO Box 1272
Dunedin 9054

+64 9 307 1370
+64 9 309 3573

Phone:
Fax:

Tauranga

+64 3 477 4055
+64 3 477 9121

Level 1, suite 3, Nikau House
27–33 Nikau Crescent
Mount Maunganui 3116

Bluff

PO Box 5288
Mount Maunganui 3150
Phone: +64 7 575 2079
Fax:
+64 7 575 2083

PO Box 1709
Invercargill 9840
Phone: +64 3 212 8958
Fax:
+64 3 212 8578

Napier

Marine Pollution Response Centre

NZWTA Building
Cnr Lever & Bridge Streets 4110

755 Te Atatu Road
Te Atatu South 0610

PO Box 12012
Ahuriri
Napier 4144
Phone: +64 6 835 4889
Fax:
+64 6 831 0008

PO Box 45-209
Auckland 0651

72 Gore Street
Bluff 9814

Phone:
Fax:
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Rescue Coordination Centre New
Zealand
Level 6
Avalon TV Studios
Percy Cameron Street
Avalon 5011
PO Box 30050
Lower Hutt, 5040
Phone: +64 4 577 8034
Fax:
+64 4 577 8041
Toll-free 24-hour: 0508 472 269

Accident reporting: Phone: 0508 222 433
Beacon registration: Phone: 0800 406 111 or
email 406registry@maritimenz.govt.nz

Website
www.maritimenz.govt.nz

Auditor
Audit New Zealand
Wellington
On behalf of the Auditor-General

Insurance broker
Aon Risk Services (NZ) Limited
Wellington
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